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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING


Monday, April 16, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application that has been filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. on December 7th, 2006 under section 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, at which time the applicant sought an order for leave to construct a natural gas pipeline for the purpose of supplying gas to the Portlands Energy Centre, the city of Toronto.  


This application consists of two sections of pipe.  The north section consists of 6.5 kilometres of 36-inch normal-sized pipe, extra high pressure, to parallel a portion of Enbridge's existing Don Valley line.  The south section of this pipeline consists of approximately 2.9 kilometres of pipe that would interconnect the Don Valley line at Enbridge's station B regulator station and would terminate at the Portlands Energy Centre.


The Board has previously issued on February 19th and April 5th procedural orders in this matter and has set this day for the oral hearing of the application.


Can we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll for the applicant, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.


MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel.  Tom Brett for the City of Toronto Economic Development Corporation, and with me is Mr. Jerry Prypasniak, who is the general counsel of TEDCO.


MR. KAISER:  Good morning, gentlemen.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we got that, Mr. Brett, but there is a microphone button that, next time you are up, if you could activate the mike, thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Donna Campbell for Board Staff, accompanied by Zora Crnojacki.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  How do you want to proceed, Ms. Campbell?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. CAMPBELL:  There are a few preliminary matters that I wish to discuss with you.


The first one has to do with the fact that there is an intervenor, Paul Beatty, who wishes to make some comments and provide some information to the Board concerning the leave to construct application.


Following that, we have three different witness panels dealing with engineering and environment, financial and economic aspects of the application, and the land.


Mr. Brett, who appears on behalf of the Toronto Economic Development Corporation, has some issues with the form of the easement agreement that has been offered and that is ‑‑ forms part of the prefiled evidence.  


He has indicated to me a wish to cross‑examine the panel, the land panel, panel number 3, on that form of easement agreement, and then at a time to be discussed and obviously set by this Panel, to make argument, either oral or written, on the form of the easement that has been offered and the form that should be offered.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Shall we proceed first with Mr. Beatty?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Mr. Beatty, I think that for purposes of ‑‑ for purposes of making his submissions, Mr. Beatty can, of course, remain there or he can come to the front.  It may be easier, Mr. Beatty, for you to be heard if you come to the front.  


If you have documents that you would like to hand to people, it might be easier if you are in fact in the front row.


MR. KAISER:  If you sit in the front row, you get $300 an hour?


MR. BEATTY:  Really?


MS. CAMPBELL:  And a bargain, I'm sure, at twice the price.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Beatty should have been aware of that prior to saying he didn't want costs.


MR. BEATTY:  Yes.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Chair, if I may, just while Mr. Beatty is getting set up, we understand Mr. Beatty is going to be making some comments and filing some information.  We understand he is not cross‑examining any witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  That's my understanding.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So from that side of things, Enbridge has no problem with Mr. Beatty making his comments now.  We obviously haven't seen the information, so we may need to take a few minutes.


MR. KAISER:  We can deal with that once we hear his submissions.


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. BEATTY:  Would you like all of my information in one shot or as I use it?


MR. KAISER:  Entirely up to you.


MR. BEATTY:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  It might be easiest if you distribute it all in one bundle.  It would be less disruptive to your presentation.


MS. CAMPBELL:  To keep the record straight, we should probably be assigning exhibit numbers to these documents.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So ‑‑ all right.  So Exhibit J.1 is a document that is titled "Terraview", T-E-R-R-A-V-I-E-W, "Willowfield", all one word, "Community Update, March 2007."  If I could ask Ms. Crnojacki to provide copies to the Panel, and then Mr. Stoll and Mr. Brett.


EXHIBIT NO. J1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "TERRAVIEW 
WILLOWFIELD COMMUNITY UPDATE, MARCH 2007."

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  J.2 is a newspaper clipping from the Scarborough Mirror dated March 3rd, 1971, and J.3 is a newspaper clipping from the Scarborough Mirror dated March 31, 1971.


EXHIBIT NO. J2:  NEWSPAPER CLIPPING FROM THE 


SCARBOROUGH MIRROR DATED MARCH 3, 1971.


EXHIBIT NO. J3:  NEWSPAPER CLIPPING FROM THE 


SCARBOROUGH MIRROR DATED MARCH 31, 1971.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Do you have something else, Mr. Beatty?


MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  This is a -- that would be a ruling of March '71, and these are all of the ‑‑ this is the reasons for the ruling.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.  J3 is an order granting leave to construct made by the Energy Board in the decision EBLO 142 on April 8th, 1971.


J5 are the reasons for decision in EBLO 142, back in the days when they did everything very big.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Campbell, sorry to interrupt, but I believe that J3 may have been used already.  According to my ‑‑


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  So we are now on 4, 5.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's what I thought, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  I apologize.  So, so J4 is the order and J.5 are the reasons.


EXHIBIT NO. J4:  ORDER BY OEB GRANTING LEAVE TO 


CONSTRUCT IN EBLO 142, DATED APRIL 8, 1971

EXHIBIT NO. J5:  DECISION WITH REASONS, EBLO 142

MS. CAMPBELL:  Is there anything else, Mr. Beatty?


MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  I only have three copies of these.  These are photographs of the area.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Perhaps because there are only three copies of the photographs, I could give one ‑‑ 


MR. BEATTY:  I have one.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You probably need one, Mr. Beatty, for yourself.


MR. BEATTY:  All right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So if I could give one set to the Panel, and this will be J6.  J6 consists of a package of seven colour photographs.  


EXHIBIT NO. J6:  PACKAGE OF SEVEN COLOUR PHOTOGRAPHS

MS. CAMPBELL:  I will hand you the photographs.  And perhaps we could get a set to Mr. Stoll of J7 for his review, and I will keep a copy for myself.  Is there anything else, Mr. Beatty?


So the final exhibit is J8, which is an excerpt from the Toronto Sun news dated Wednesday, April 11th, 2007.  J7, is it?  No, the photographs were J6, were they not?  


MR. VLAHOS:  They were J7.  I am doing well.  So this is J8.  


EXHIBIT NO. J8:  TORONTO SUN STORY DATED 


WEDNESDAY, APRIL 11, 2007 


MR. KAISER:  Ready, Mr. Beatty?  


MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  I don't know if anybody wanted to research the material, or...


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead, whenever you are ready.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BEATTY:

MR. BEATTY:  My residence backs on to the hydro corridor in I guess it would be the north section of the pipeline.  We had a feeling for the last few years in the neighbourhood that there was going to be another pipeline put in this area.  And we had one sort of, I guess it would be a town hall meeting with Enbridge some time ago, and so people kind of discussed it and that in the neighbourhood.  


Then we had another one in September 7th at the Ellesmere Community Centre.  We had a meeting where Enbridge and a consulting firm - I believe it was Dillon -presented where the actual pipeline was going to go.  


Of course, a lot of the residents were in kind of protest of where this new pipeline was going to go, because before we didn't exactly know where it was going to go.  We knew it was coming down the corridor, but in relationship to the old pipeline we had no idea where it was going to go.  At that meeting it was discovered that the actual new pipeline is going to go between the existing pipeline and the houses.  


At that point, of course, people were kind of upset because all along they really had no direction of where things were going to go.  And they had objection to this.  And through a long process and talking to a few people, we were able to find out that back in 1971 residents in the area, as you can see by the two newspaper clippings, got together, formed a committee, went to the OEB, presented their case, and there was a ruling by the OEB that the pipeline could go no closer than 35 feet to the back of the houses.  


We found that -- and of course to try to find somebody who had information or could remember any of this information, or whatever, was pretty difficult, because it was 36 years ago.  The memories were bad.  The people had moved, they were dead; things happen.  Through a long process, I went to the Cedarbrae reference library because I had somebody from the Scarborough Mirror tell me all of their archive papers are there.  I spent two days, roughly about four hours each day, starting in 1969 going through all of their papers, every page, until 1971.  


I found the first newspaper clipping that said "Residents protest pipeline," with a ruling by the OEB in two weeks.  So I went to it, two weeks later, and sure enough, they had an article on the ruling by the OEB, and it said that they would have to maintain the distance of 35 feet from the backyards of these houses.  


Well, now I had to find the ruling, which was even more difficult.  I managed to have a friend who eventually phoned the OEB and talked to some staff there, and they sent a copy of it, which you have in your hands, which states the ruling and all of the reasons why.  


As I like to say, the conditions on this new pipeline to go in have not changed at all.  The feeling about gas lines close to houses has not changed at all.  There are two schools in here, as you can see, and the first picture -- it's this one here.  There are two schools here, which for some reason the Catholic school over to the left doesn't get mentioned in the social/environmental report, but this is a high-traffic area for here.  These school children are always in, moving up and down this field or across the crossway at the two streets that loop and Japonica, as you can see in the other picture here of the people moving across.  


You can see in the other two pictures of the grassy area how busy an area this is by the path that is worn on each of them running north and south.  Also people use this area to walk their dogs, as you can see in the other three pictures.  They do their shopping in the local plazas, they walk through here.  


The concern of mine is to maintain this margin of 35 feet, just for safety reasons and security reasons, as based in all of the reasons for the ruling before.  


I would like to see the pipeline put on the other side, which would be the east side of the existing one.  I understand it is only a 36-inch pipeline.  It doesn't take up a lot of room.  I understand they can also run it within a foot of the other one.  This land, as far as I know, from the Ontario Realty Corporation and City Hall is never going to be sold, and there is no development called for in this area.  


There could be used the hydro towers to transmit power from the Portlands energy plant or there could be a new 500-kVA line come from the north.  Either way, this could be used as, again, as a hydro corridor.   The hydro towers themselves I don't see as presenting any problem to the gas line running on that side.  If there is a potential -- they talk about maybe a problem with lightning striking one of the towers and coming down and, I don't know, cutting like a laser through the pipeline.  According to the people at the town hall meeting, this has never occurred.  


The other thing is that the towers, when they're all set up, have their own lightning arrester at the top.  The towers are grounded and the pipeline is grounded, so in actual fact, they would be running at the same potential.  If anything happened, any energy from any lightning would be dissipated through the ground.  Since the towers and the pipeline are the same potential, there could never be an accident like a plus or minus coming together.  


The other thing I would like to say is that the only update I have had since that town hall meeting at September 7th was the letter you have there from Mr. Kelly, and nothing from Enbridge, nothing from Dillon, nothing else.  It was only by accident that on April 5th, when I was enquiring about this original ruling, that I was able to find out about this meeting today.  


Through a lot of help from the Staff at the OEB, I must say, they were able to get me here, provide me with information.  There was some information I couldn't get due to the fact that my computer, as usual, had a glitch or two.  They provided me with a DVD of the social and economic study done by Enbridge.  Unfortunately I can't bring up any of the references to that, because I can't say any pages or anything.  


This pipeline, I was going to say, in 1971 was going to bring an annual return of $30 million, a gross annual return of $30 million to Enbridge.  I can't imagine the amount of money it would bring to this day.  And all of this money is brought in basically by you and me, the public, because we'll be paying for it through the use of the hydro coming out of that plant.  


The properties belong to the public.  They're public lands, as I understand it.  So all of this public has a big influence on how this whole thing is going to run, but for some reason we have had very little input.  It seems to me that the public has become a nuisance in most processes now.  Of all the people that supposedly back in September or whatever were given, as Enbridge says, or Dillon says, 7,400 newsletters sent out to people to come to these town hall meetings, it really surprises me that I am the only one from the public appearing here to speak to you people.  


So the actual communication to the public has been very little.  They stand to make a lot of money out of this deal.  And the public will be paying for it.  


The other thing that concerns me, too, is the security issue for this pipeline.  As mentioned in the previous ruling by Enbridge ‑‑ or by the OEB, security was a big issue.  These children cross this line all this time and we have a new ‑‑ a lot of new Canadians.  They're probably first generation.  If anything was to happen to one of these children, it could be the whole end of their family line.


There is a process now, too, that we have in place in the workplace called due diligence, which makes sure that every measure possible is taken to ensure the safety of public and workers at the same time, and also what's come to light lately in our highly secure world situation is this terrorist problem.  


I just want to make sure that this thing, this high pressure line ‑ and at this point there will be two of them running together ‑ that these lines couldn't be used as some sort of bomb, or, you know, terrorist act put upon them that would endanger the people in this right of way.


To move that pipeline between the existing one and the homes I feel is just adding more problem.  If something did happen, the loss of life would be more extreme.  There is two schools there.  There is also a hydro substation which would knock out the power between Victoria Park, Warden, Ellesmere and the 401, which is a huge area.  And that is why I wish the OEB to rule on the -- putting it on the east side of the existing one.  It doesn't take up very much room, and I think the community would feel a lot safer if it was put over there.


As they said in the newspaper clipping from 1971, the second one, there exists a danger now that didn't exist before, no matter how minute, okay.  


That's basically the end of my presentation.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Beatty.  The Board's earlier order, which you have produced a copy of, the one of April 8th, 1971, in that case the approval was granted on the condition that, as I understood it, the pipeline would be at least 35 feet away from the western boundary.


MR. BEATTY:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Your house, I take it, is on the western boundary.


MR. BEATTY:  No, it is on the east side, sir.


MR. KAISER:  So you actually want it moved closer to your house?


MR. BEATTY:  Yes, sir.  I still have about 90 -- approximately 90 feet as a buffer.  Those people only have about 35 feet.


MR. KAISER:  Do you know -- I've just seen these materials very quickly.  Do you know ‑‑ you spend a lot more time researching this -- on what basis the 35-foot margin was determined?  Is there any magic to that, or where did that number come from?


MR. BEATTY:  See, I haven't had a lot of time to really gather all this information.  I have only been working on it -- well, actually, getting the original ruling was quite a job, and, you know, you go through the winter and everybody wants to stay in, so there is a slow process there, but I did find that.


What I have been able to understand is - and I believe it is page 16 of that report - that the OEB found that even if you moved the pipeline out to the centre of the field, say 100 something feet away, the actual security did not increase at all.  So they felt that 35 feet was a safe distance.


As far as any explosive value this pipeline has, if possible, I have no idea on those numbers.  As I say, I haven't had a lot of time to prepare a lot of this information, so I haven't been ‑‑ and there is so much more I could have done, but in a short period of time, it just hasn't been possible, so I haven't ‑‑ I have only been able to briefly go through that, and...


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, has your client given any consideration to the condition that the Board, in the original ruling, attached to this leave to construct; namely, this 35-foot buffer from the western boundary, or were you aware of it?


MR. STOLL:  We were aware of the original decision, and in determining the route through this section, much of that has to do with the discussions of the owner of the right of way or CN and Hydro One and where they would like to locate us.  So much ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Are you indifferent whether it goes on the eastern side or the western side?


MR. STOLL:  I would have to confer with my witness to see if there is any price difference and if it is locationally the same all the way through on the specifics.


MR. KAISER:  Do you know if there was any magic to the 35-foot buffer that the Board attached as an earlier condition?


MR. STOLL:  I am not aware of any.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, there would be a panel that could talk to this thing later on today?


MR. STOLL:  The engineering panel and the environmental people were involved in selecting the route, so to the extent there are questions around the discussions on route selection and how they arrived at the location of the route, they will be available to answer that.


MR. BEATTY:  I must note this is also a larger line, okay.  It is 36 inches as opposed to --


MR. KAISER:  The other was 30, wasn't it?


MR. BEATTY:  It was 30, right.  So, as I said, the possibility of something happening, you know, on a larger line would be more devastating.  There was a recent gas leak there at Eglinton and Victoria Park that they cleared the area out for the day, and so...


MR. KAISER:  How close is the new line to the existing one?


MR. BEATTY:  It would be approximately about half way.  It's actually right where this path is that is used all the time.


MR. KAISER:  So it is right close to the western boundary, then?


MR. BEATTY:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you very much, sir.  We will try to follow up on this with the expert panel.  We appreciate your assistance.


MR. BEATTY:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, do you have a panel?


MR. STOLL:  There is a couple of housekeeping items I would like to go through first, and then I am wondering, in light of Mr. Beatty's statements, if we could maybe take a few minutes so I would talk to the first panel.


MR. KAISER:  Certainly.


MR. STOLL:  If we wanted to do housecleaning items first, this morning I delivered to Mr. Brett and Board Staff CVs of each of the witnesses that will be appearing.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you for reminding me.  I had completely forgotten.


Yes.  So we are going to make as Exhibit J9 -- Exhibit J9 is a bundle of documents provided by Enbridge this morning that consists of the curriculum vitae of the various witnesses who will be appearing before you on each of the witness panels.


EXHIBIT NO. J9:  CVs OF ENBRIDGE WITNESSES

MR. STOLL:  I believe also there are the amendments to the table of contents up front, blue pages --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STOLL:  -- reflecting that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.  The first document is a change to the table of contents.


MR. STOLL:  Then I think, if Ms. Campbell is ready, I think the other thing is just to make sure -- there was some correspondence late last week that we wanted to make sure everybody had a copy of.  


It was a letter on Aird & Berlis letterhead on behalf of the applicant responding to the city of Toronto.  The city of Toronto had requested an additional condition be incorporated in the approval.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do we have that?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I have it in my binder under correspondence.  Your binders should be up to date, also, if you could just flip it open to make sure.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  What's the date?


MS. CAMPBELL:  April 13th.  It will be attached to an e‑mail in PDF format.  Behind it should in fact be the letter itself.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Want to give that a number?  I have two April 13th letters from Aird & Berlis.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The one that says, "This letter responds to a city of Toronto letter".


MR. KAISER:  All right, hmm‑hmm.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That one will be J10.



EXHIBIT NO. J10:  LETTER FROM AIRD & BERLIS DATED 


APRIL 13, 2006

MS. CAMPBELL:  There is also a letter from the city of Toronto dated April 13th, 2007.  You won't have a copy of it, because I just found out it came in on the weekend.  It will become J11.


EXHIBIT NO. J11:  LETTER FROM CITY OF TORONTO DATED 


APRIL 13TH, 2007

MS. CAMPBELL:  J11.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other letters, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  The only other letter was the April 13th letter responding to Mr. Beatty's participation, which I assume from your earlier comment that you would have as well. 


MR. KAISER:  I guess we will make that J12, will we?  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  


EXHIBIT NO. J12:  LETTER DATED APRIL 13

MR. BRETT:  Excuse me, is there another copy of that letter available?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  


MR. STOLL:  Which one?  


MR. BRETT:  The one from the city of Toronto to...


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, the city of Toronto letter. 


MR. STOLL:  We have it, we have it.  


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  J11.  


MR. BRETT:  Thanks very much.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  You're welcome.  


MR. KAISER:  This, I take it, Mr. Brett, is not your client, but somebody else. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  It relates to a condition that the City of Toronto Department of Surveys requested, and Mr. Brett appears on behalf of TEDCO. 


MR. KAISER:  Who is here for the city?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  There is no one appearing on behalf of the city.  They asked instead that a letter that they wrote January 30th - and you will find it in your binder under the tab that says "Observers", there is a letter dated January 30th - and it requests that certain conditions be imposed upon this application if it is approved, and I believe this will be the subject of some evidence later on.  Specifically, if you look at the letter of January 30th, you will note that the city is requesting that within 30 days of the completion of its construction it is to provide to the city of Toronto either drawings certified by an Ontario land surveyor accurately showing the location of the constructed pipeline or a record drawing, as defined by the Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario, accurately showing the location of the constructed pipeline.   The reasons for requesting that particular condition be placed on the application are contained on page 2 of the letter.  There are approximately seven reasons given for the city, why they believe it to be necessary.  


It is my understanding that, and I am sure Mr. Stoll will confirm this, and I believe it is in the letter that was just filed, that Aird & Berlis – I apologize - the solicitors for Enbridge, and Enbridge itself is content to have those conditions attached to this application, and to this application only.  Obviously the approval of the conditions is within the discretion of the Panel and there will be some further comment concerning that at a later date.  You may wish questions at that time also. 


MR. KAISER:  Is that right, Mr. Stoll?  You have agreed to these conditions with the city?  


MR. STOLL:  We have agreed that we wouldn't oppose it.  We put the condition before the Board and if the Board sees fit to include it in the approval, we don't take issue with that.  


MR. KAISER:  Is this a convenient time to break?  


MR. STOLL:  This is a convenient time.


MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes. 


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  


--- Recess taken at 10:08 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 10:29 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stoll.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We have our first panel.  As you can see, it is a rather large panel.  This will cover the engineering, environmental routing and planning facilities design issues, so I would ask that the panel be sworn.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1 


Edwin Makkinga, Sworn


Samuel McDermott; Sworn


Joe Muraca, Sworn


Erik Naczynksi, Sworn


David Wesenger, Sworn


Randy Wilton; Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  I will only have a few minutes of evidence-in‑chief with the witness.  I will just walk through an introduction with each one, their position, role, and then there will be a couple of follow-up questions, and then I will turn it over to Ms. Campbell and Mr. Brett and the Panel for questions after that, if that is acceptable.


Mr. McDermott, can you state your full name and position for this project.


MR. McDERMOTT:  My name is Samuel McDermott.  I am the project manager for the north section of the project.  In that role, I am responsible for overseeing all aspects of the project.


MR. STOLL:  Were you involved in the preparation of the evidence that is before this Board today?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Yes, I was.


MR. STOLL:  Do you adopt that evidence as your own?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Yes, I do.


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any corrections or additions that you would like to make at this time?


MR. McDERMOTT:  I do.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Would you make that correction, and if I could get you to make ‑‑ provide the Board with the reference of where the correction is.


MR. McDERMOTT:  If I could have you turn to Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, page 1 of 2.


If I could also have you turn to Exhibit J1, page 22 of 99, question number 7, attachment 2, page 1 of 3.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry, Mr. McDermott, could you repeat that?  I missed the last reference.


MR. McDERMOTT:  Exhibit J1, page 22 of 99, question number 7, attachment 2, page 1 of 3.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. STOLL:  Can you provide the detail of that correction?


MR. McDERMOTT:  We received a letter from the TSSA advising us of a correction to be made for the design specification for -- the material toughness for NPS 36 and NPS 20 should reference the CSA 245.1 standard for steel pipe, rather than CSA Z245.2.


If we turn back to Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, page 1 of 2, you will see that this was not done.  It was an oversight on our part.  This will be corrected.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  Mr. Wilton, if you could state your name and position with the company, and your role in this project, please.


MR. WILTON:  I am currently the manager of engineering regulation and measurement within Enbridge Gas.  I was, at the time of the application filing, manager of network analysis, and my role in this project was to do the hydraulic modelling for the pipeline.


MR. STOLL:  You were involved in the preparation of the evidence that is before the Board and, in particular, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1 regarding the hydraulic modelling numbers, and Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3 of 4, again with reference to the hydraulic model?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. STOLL:  Do you adopt that as your evidence today?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, I do.


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes, corrections or additions you would like to make to that evidence at this time?


MR. WILTON:  I have no corrections.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Mr. Naczynski, could you state your name and spell it for the court reporter, and then provide your position with respect to this project.


MR. NACZYNSKI:  My name is Erik Naczynski.  Naczynski is N-A-C-Z-Y-N-S-K-I.


I am project manager for the south section of the project and am responsible for overseeing issues relating to the south section.


MR. STOLL:  All right.  Was the information related to the south section prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  That is correct.


MR. STOLL:  Do you adopt that as your evidence here before the Board?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  I do.


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes or additions that you would like to make?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Yes, I do.  I would also like to refer to Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2 of 2, and the same reference that my colleague, Mr. McDermott, had referenced, the TSSA letter, again, where it notes that the material toughness is Z245.1.  


You will note on Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, again, the material toughness has been incorrectly indicated here as Z245.2 and that should read Z245.1.


I would also like to make an additional correction.  Under the hydrostatic test pressure on the same page, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2 of 2, you will note that this page has several updates that relate to the grade of the pipe.  The hydrostatic test pressure indicated here was from the old grade of the material.  The new hydrostatic test pressure should read 18,065 kilopascals.


MR. STOLL:  That is 18,065?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  That is correct.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And that would also be corrected on Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 4?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  You are absolutely correct.  Under hydrostatic test procedures on Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 4, the appropriate changes would also need to be made under those hydrostatic test procedures, and the current number reading 15,480 should be replaced with 18,065.  And there are two instances of that, one right underneath the title and on the very last line under "Strength Test".


MR. STOLL:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Wesenger, state your name, the company you work for and your role in this project, please.


MR. WESENGER:  My name is David Wesenger.  I work for Stantec ‑‑ I'm sorry.  My apologies.  My name is David Wesenger.  I work for Stantec Consulting Limited, where I am a senior project manager.  


My role in this project was to oversee the preparation of the environmental report for the Toronto Portlands reinforcement project, south section. 


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  And that information was prepared by you, as you have described.  Do you adopt that as your evidence?


MR. WESENGER: Yes, I do.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Makkinga, can you provide your name and role.


MR. MAKKINGA:  My name is Edwin Makkinga.  I'm an environmental health and safety specialist with Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., and I was responsible for the coordination of the environmental assessments for the north and south sections of the project.


MR. STOLL:  You were involved in the preparation of the evidence in this hearing before the Board?


MR. MAKKINGA:  That's correct.


MR. STOLL:  Do you adopt that as your evidence?  


MR. MAKKINGA:  Yes, I do. 


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes, corrections or additions you would like to make at this time?  


MR. MAKKINGA:  Not at this time.  


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Muraca, can you state your name, the company you work for and your role in this project. 


MR. MURACA:  My name is Joe Muraca.  I work for Dillon Consulting as an environmental planner.  I was responsible for preparing the study for the south section of the project.  


MR. STOLL:  And do you adopt that information as your evidence for this hearing?  


MR. MURACA:  Yes, I do. 


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes, corrections or additions that you would like to make at this time?  


MR. MURACA:  Not at this time. 


MR. STOLL:  At this time I will go through a couple of I hope fairly non-contentious items; then we will get into a couple of the bits of information that will deal with some of the points raised by Mr. Beatty earlier.  


If I can go to the engineering and planning side of things.  The evidence -- sorry, Mr. McDermott?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  I would like to make a correction for Dillon.  Dillon was responsible for the north section, not the south section of the project.  


MR. MURACA:  My apologies.  


MR. STOLL:  With respect to the planning, the evidence before the Board is that the existing piping network was not sufficient to accommodate the Portlands Energy Centre load; is that correct?  


MR. WILTON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. STOLL:  With respect to the south section, did Enbridge consider alternatives to the proposed pipeline that is the subject of this leave application?  


MR. WILTON:  I'm sorry, could you...


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.  Did you consider alternatives to the final proposed pipeline?  For example, I believe the evidence stated that there was an elevation considered at one point. 


MR. WILTON:  That's correct. 


MR. STOLL:  Various pipeline routes were considered as part of the environmental study?  


MR. WILTON:  That's correct. 


MR. STOLL:  Would a smaller-diameter pipe be able to supply the load to Portlands Energy Centre and meet the minimum design pressure required for Portlands? 


MR. WILTON:  It would not.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  With respect to the north section of pipeline, the loop is intended to provide additional capacity to maintain the flexibility in the gas distribution network of Enbridge; is that correct?  


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  


MR. STOLL:  And the proposed pipeline is the minimum pipe size that would achieve that objective?  


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  


MR. STOLL:  Now we will switch to Mr. Wesenger.  Does the south section environmental report comply with the Ontario Energy Board Environmental Guidelines? 


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  The environmental report was prepared with careful consideration to the 2003 version of the Board's Environmental Guidelines. 


MR. STOLL:  Can you summarize the process Stantec and yourself undertook to select the preferred route?  


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  A total of nine route segments were generated between the end points provided by Enbridge, specifically between Station B and the Portlands Energy Centre.  These segments were interconnected to create the alternate routes, and the alternate routes were then   subjected to a preliminary screening and comparative valuation. 


Through this process, routes with significantly greater environmental or socio-economic impacts were eliminated.  An example of this process, which is outlined in section 5 of the environmental report, is the rationale for excluding alternate route segments 2 and 4.  Evaluation of segment 2, which extends from Station B through a parcel of land owned by Korex Canada, revealed that this alignment would interfere with the future implementation of the Don mouth naturalization and flood protection project proposed by the Toronto Waterfront Revitalization Committee and the Toronto Region Conservation Authority.    


In addition, segment 2 bisects through the Korex property, constraining Korex's future use of that property.  In addition, discussions between Enbridge and the landowner determined that the landowner was not willing to grant permanent easement rights to Enbridge on their property.  These factors, which do not occur on segments that achieve the same routing objective, led to the elimination of segment 2.  


Evaluation of segment, which extends east on Commissioners Street and south on Leslie Street and then westerly on Unwin Avenue, revealed this segment would potentially impact several businesses on Commissioners Street.  In addition, TEDCO, the Toronto Waterfront Revitalization Committee and the city of Toronto expressed concern that an alignment in this location would interfere with the future realignment of Unwin Avenue and the redevelopment of Tommy Thompson Park, both of which are proposed in the future.  These factors did not occur on segments which achieved the same routing objective, and that's what led to the exclusion of segment 4.  


The selection of the final route incorporated the comparative valuation of environmental and socio-economic factors as well as input acquired through the public consultation process. 


MR. STOLL:  Are there any unacceptable environmental impacts anticipated from the construction or operation of the south section pipeline? 


MR. WILTON:  With the application of Enbridge's standard construction measures and the application of the mitigation measures recommended in the environmental assessment, no significant adverse environmental impacts are anticipated.  


MR. STOLL:  We will go back to you, Mr. Naczynski.  Enbridge is adopting the mitigation measure proposed by Stantec in its construction documents?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  That's correct.  Enbridge will comply with all mitigation measures recommended by Stantec.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  


Mr. Muraca --


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, I'm sorry. I can't hear you well.  It's either your microphone is off or you're too far from it. 


MR. STOLL:  I apologize.  


Mr. Muraca, does the north section environmental report comply with the Ontario Energy Board environmental guidelines?  


MR. MURACA:  Yes, it does.  


MR. STOLL:  Can you summarize -- there are two reports here, and Mr. Beatty made comment about some of the public consultation.  Can you describe the public consultation process used by Dillon in the environmental report?  


MR. MURACA:  Well, I will take you through the original study first.  As part of that study, we had two public open houses, and for those public open houses we placed ads in the Toronto Star, Scarborough Mirror, Markham Economist and Sun and the Sing Tao.  We also sent out almost 3,000, or just about 3,000 letters to landowners at that time.  


The first open house meeting was conducted to evaluate and present two different route segments and allow members of the public to have a chance to see those two route alternatives and the basis on which we were conducting the study.  


We had a good turnout for that study and we had about 165 people attending.


A second open house was held as well in which we presented a preliminary preferred route which showed the pipeline along on maps that were presented at the public open house as well.  


Among the comments we received from the public were, one, where we showed that the new proposed pipeline would be installed on the west side of the existing pipeline, and the comment received was that residents were concerned due to their opposition for further housing development along that right of way.  


Finally, for the updating study, we conducted a public meeting for the update study on September 7th of 2006.  This was to give a chance for the public to, once again, be reminded of the preliminary preferred route, to review project information and to remind stakeholders of the previous project that had been conducted.  


We also asked participants to fill out a questionnaire, and we had a good turnout for that meeting as well.  


MR. STOLL:  At the public information session, is contact information regarding the project provided so that residents may follow up if they have other questions or issues in respect to the project?  


MR. MURACA:  Absolutely.  In fact, as part of the public notices that are placed in and the letters that are mailed out, the names of project representatives from Enbridge and from Dillon were provided.  As well, a panel was made available at the public meeting to ask residents to keep us informed, and names of, again, representatives from Dillon and Enbridge were provided on those panels.  


MR. STOLL:  Was a website -- information provided as part of this information so that residents could go through the Internet and find out information about the project?  


MR. MURACA:  Yes.  The website was also provided, which includes all of the reports and the notices, and all of the information presented at the open houses.  


MR. STOLL:  At the technical conference, Ms. Campbell asked whether anyone had followed up since the preparation of the report with questions or issues.  And your response was to the negative.  


In the intervening time since the Technical Conference, has anyone contacted Dillon with respect to this project and the environmental report?


MR. MURACA:  No.  I have not received any contact.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And, Mr. Makkinga, I assume you were the other representative that was listed as a contact?


MR. MAKKINGA:  That's correct.


MR. STOLL:  Have you received any calls or correspondence from any individuals with respect to the north section?


MR. MAKKINGA:  Not at this point.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Mr. Muraca, you mentioned about the concern of landowners with respect to the property.  Can you describe in a little more detail the significance of those comments?


MR. MAKKINGA:  Well, like I said, again, from the first study and the second study, we asked the members of the public to provide comments on those -- on the proposed route, and among the many comments that we did receive, the comment was expressed about using the east side -- possible using the east side of the existing line.


However, most of those comments were concerning residents' fear of proposed development on the east side of the right of way.  The hope was that if the pipeline was installed on the east side, this would limit future development of that corridor.


MR. STOLL:  All right.  Mr. McDermott, the location of the line in the north section, from your discussions with Hydro One and ORC, or Ontario Realty Corporation, was the east side an acceptable option in their opinion?


MR. McDERMOTT:  In our discussions with Hydro One and the ORC, the east side was not negotiable.


MR. STOLL:  Those are my questions for this panel, and I would turn it over to Ms. Campbell.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell, before she starts, why was it not acceptable to Hydro One?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Pardon me?


MR. KAISER:  Why was it not acceptable to Hydro One?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Hydro One has future plans for the -- for that portion of the right of way.


MR. KAISER:  Do we know what those are?


MR. McDERMOTT:  I am not at leisure to disclose them.  They haven't made them public.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  First of all, a couple of things.  The first thing I should have done was file the issues list.  I apologize.  It's in your binder.


What happened was the issues list was circulated for comment by Procedural Order, I believe, No. 2 on April 5th.  No comments were made and so the proposed issues list became the issues list.  So I will provide copies of that to you now.


The significance of this is simply that at certain point in time I will be focussing on certain issues that are in the proposed issues list and on certain of the other issues, I will not have any questions.


Before we start, I thought it might be helpful if we actually have a representation of the two different routes that we are talking about, because there's been discussion of the east side and the west side and allowances, and it may be helpful if you actually know what this looks like.


I found two maps that I found particularly helpful, and I would ask the witness panel to direct me to anything else you think is more helpful.


With regard to the north, I found the most helpful representation was found in the updated Dillon report, which the panel should have in their briefs.  It is dated November 2006.


The map that I am looking at is appendix G.  It is at the back and it would be right behind the page that says "G1".  And there is a map that says "Mitigation Map," and it looks like that.  I would just like to have that in front of the panel so that when there are discussions concerning what is east and what is west, they know what people are talking about.  


This map also has the names of the roads on it, also, so it's somewhat helpful.


Concerning the south route, I have an extremely large better representation, I think, a larger map.  And this is found in the prefiled evidence in the white binder, for the panel members.  It's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 3, page 4 of 4, and it is a large foldout.  So this gives a nice overview of what the south route is, the proposed south route, for the benefit of the panel.


And just for the purposes of the panel, to assist you, if you want to sort of see an overview of what the whole thing looks like, I found a fold-out map, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 2, and it shows flow-throughs, and that is simply ‑‑ I am not promising I will be asking questions on all of these maps.  I simply think it would be helpful if everybody had an idea, a representation of the routes, the two different routes being proposed.


My first questions for this panel are going to make reference to a TSSA document, and I am going to pass it around.  I advised Mr. Stoll that I would have a handful of questions on this.  The title of the document is "Guidelines for locating new oil and gas pipeline facilities."  It is dated August 19, 1998 and has a reference of PI‑98/01.  This will be J12 [sic].


EXHIBIT NO. J13:  DOCUMENT PI-98/01 ENTITLED 


"GUIDELINES FOR LOCATING NEW OIL AND GAS PIPELINE 


FACILITIES"

MS. CAMPBELL:  Enquiries were made, and I understand that there have been no updates to this version.


I don't know who on the panel will be answering this question.  Mr. McDermott, I will just give you one.


All right.  Now, as I said, I have handed you something called the "Guidelines for locating new oil and gas pipeline facilities", and the question that this relates to is the third number on the proposed issues list, and that question on the proposed issues list is:   

"Are design specifications in accordance with the CSA safety and design requirements?"  


And we are adding the TSSA guidelines to this issue, also.  There is also, in the prefiled evidence -‑ and brief reference has been made to that already ‑- this was updated March 19th, 2007.  It is Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, pages 1 and 2, and they're the blue sheets and they have down ‑- they're titled "Design Specifications NPS 36" and "Design Specifications NPS 20".


Now, the portion that I want to refer to somebody has already marked with heavy black liner.  Unfortunately, I couldn't get you a copy that hadn't been premarked; my apologies.  And it deals with minimum setbacks, and it says:  

"Pipelines shall be aligned to provide a minimum setback of 20 metres from their centre line to dwellings intended for human occupancy.  A 200 metre set back shall be maintained from the centre line of the pipeline to institutions where rapid evacuation may be difficult, such as hospitals, nursing homes, penal institutions, and institutions for the physically and mentally handicapped.  Where these distances are not practicable, the following measures shall be implemented to reduce the minimum respective setbacks to 5 metres and 90 metres respectively."


If you turn the page over, you will see that the guidelines state the measures are:   

"Use category II pipe with proven notch toughness characteristics, as specified by CSA Z662..." 

and secondly, 

"have a minimum cover of at least 1.5 metres over the pipeline, or where 1.5 metres of cover is not practicable, a suitable means of identifying and protecting the pipeline may be used as an alternative."  


Now, I have already taken you to the prefiled evidence and the filing of the design specifications for both sections of the proposed pipeline.  


My question to you is, are there areas that are closer than the minimum guidelines set out by the TSSA guidelines that I have put before the panel as J13?  J12, I apologize.  


MR. McDERMOTT:  Looking at the document that you just provided, if I go to the last line where it says "the minimum respective setbacks are 5 metres and 90 metres respectively" --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MR. McDERMOTT:  -- We are well within the 5 metres and 90 metres.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All of the areas that are contained in the proposed routes, are all of the setbacks 5 metres to 90 metres respectively?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  Yes.  We are 6 metres from the curb to the edge of the easement where the pipe will lie.  The width of the easement is 3-and-a-half metres.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. McDermott, a 200-metre setback, or I guess the 90-metre alternative, Mr. Beatty gave us a photograph, J7, which had two schools.  Are those schools within 90 metres of the proposed line?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  No, they are not.  


MR. KAISER:  How far are they?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  I do not have an exact number, but I could bring your attention to the TSSA document dated August 1998, PI-98/02, from minimum setbacks.  Within that document it says:  

"For oil and gas pipelines operating at a stress level between 40 percent of SMYS, no additional setbacks are required beyond the limits of the easement.  For oil and gas pipelines operating at a stress level in excess of 40 percent SMYS, the minimum setback of 20 metres shall be maintained from the centre line of the pipeline to dwellings intended for human occupancy.  A minimum setback of 200 metres shall be maintained from the centre line of pipelines to institutions" --


MR. STOLL:  Excuse me, Mr. McDermott.  That document hasn't been entered into evidence yet, and actually I hadn't planned on entering the document.  


If we refer to the document provided by Board counsel, the opening two lines refer to a similar statement that Mr. McDermott just made, and it says:  

"The following guidelines pertain to the installation of new steel and oil and gas pipeline systems designed to operate at hoop stresses of 40 percent or more." 


If one turns to exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3, and we look at the hoop stresses at MOP, which is by one of the updated numbers, the third one - it is page 2 of 2 on that one, and similarly on page 1 of 2 - the hoop stress here on page 1 of 2 is 19.9 percent and the hoop stress on page 2 of 2 is 17.1 percent, which is less than half the number provided for in the TSSA guidelines.  So, the minimum setback requirements are not a requirement for these pipelines.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, why don't we put the document in so we have a complete record.  I guess this is the additional one Mr. McDermott referred to, PI-98/02.  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  What you're saying is it really doesn't have anything different from the one that we have before us as J12?  


MR. STOLL:  Correct.  It is slightly different form, but the substance results in the same result.  We can provide copies of that document to the Board.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Before we go any further, I have just been advised that we are not on air.  Could we put ourselves on air?  People have been calling.  Thank you.  


Yes.  If you could file 98/02, please.  


MR. STOLL:  We will file that.  Do you want to mark that as an exhibit now as a place marker?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry?  


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.  I was just wondering if you wanted to give that an exhibit number now. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Why don't we.  Logically it would become J13 [sic]. 


EXHIBIT NO. J14:  TSSA DOCUMENT PI-98/02, AUGUST 1998

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, just so I understand it, I assume this is the answer, the fact that the stress level is 19 percent -- or 17 percent as opposed to 40 percent or more I take it means that pipelines of this stress level don't have the same safety hazard of those that are 40 percent or more?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, if I can follow up, then.  


MR. VLAHOS:  The suggestion here is that those exhibits, J12 and J13, are not really applicable in our case.  Is that what you're suggesting?  


MR. STOLL:  That is exactly what I am suggesting, because the pipelines are operating at such low stress levels. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Therefore, my question is, where do we go to find out any minimum setbacks for the kind of stress or hoop stress that we are talking about here in this application?  Where did we go for that?  


MR. STOLL:  With pipelines that don't meet this requirement, and I can be corrected by one of the engineers, the basic setback is edge of right of way.  So for pipelines that do not meet the 40 percent, or for pipelines that are less than the 40 percent, as long as there is setback to the edge of right of way, that is acceptable.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, I did not mean for you to give evidence. 


MR. STOLL:  I'm sorry. 


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  I appreciate that, but maybe one of your witnesses could confirm that. 


MR. McDERMOTT:  I concur.  


MR. KAISER:  Were you able to find out where the 35-foot setback came from in the 1971 decision?  


MR. STOLL:  I don't have any further information on that.  


MR. KAISER:  Were the regulations different back then or...


MR. STOLL:  I can’t speak to what the Code requirement was back in 1971 versus the Z662 code is currently.  So I can't make a comment. 


MR. KAISER:  Do you know, Mr. McDermott?   Any idea where that 35-foot setback came from?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  I do not know where it came from.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  My next question has to do with the estimated costs of the pipeline.  This is going to deal with some updates that have been filed that affect the cost.  


First of all, there was a filed update on the land cost that related to the north section of the application.  That is Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 1 of 2, and I am looking at paragraph 4.  


This is updated as of April 10th, 2007, and the statement is made:  

"During the course of negotiations with Ontario Realty Corporation and Hydro One Networks, it has become evident that the cost of the land rights from Ontario Realty Corporation will be significantly higher than originally estimated.  This cost is now expected to be no less than $10 million, compared to an original estimate of $3.2 million."


And then there is a second -- second letter that relates to costs, and once I get those in, then I will have some questions about these costs.


The second letter was actually put in.  There were two letters that were put in.  There was a letter that ‑‑ there was a letter filed from Aird & Berlis that relates to the city of Toronto letter I made reference to earlier, which is January 30th, in which the city of Toronto requested that certain documents and drawings be provided within 30 days of the completion of the construction.


Part of the Technical Conference was a request -- sorry, one of the questions at the Technical Conference was a request for Enbridge to make an enquiry into the cost of providing the drawings that were requested, and the response to that undertaking was ‑‑ is found at the very last page, panel, of your white binder, Exhibit K.3, page 1 of 1.


They have advised that:

"The approximate cost of providing drawings by a certified Ontario land surveyor is $1,000 a day and on a plan basis, the additional cost would amount to the following:  The north section would cost $140,000 and the south section would cost $100,000, for a total of $240,000."


In the letter of April 13th from the city of Toronto, which was marked J11, signed by Edward Earl, who is one of the lawyers in the city of Toronto's legal department, he takes issue with the cost of $240,000, and in the top of page 2 of that letter indicates that they believe the costs should not exceed $75,000.


So the cost of this appears to have a ballpark of $75,000 to $240,000.


So the two new updates, just to recap, are an increase in the costs of the land in the north section from 3.2 to over $10 million, and the second is the cost of filing the drawings that the city requests in its letter of January 30th, with a range of $75,000 to $240,000.


Now, obviously there are different aspects to these costs.  We have a series of questions on the impact that it has upon the application.  My math indicates that the total estimated costs of this application will rise from approximately $41.7 million to over $49 million.


Just to assist the panel and to make sure that we are all on the same page, I thought I would also take you to the section of your application that has all of the estimated project costs, and then a breakdown of those costs.  That's Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, and it covers three pages.


So if I look at table 1 on the first page, I've got total estimated project costs of $41,742,148.  If I turn to page 2 and I go to table 5, "Estimated External Costs," and I go down to the very last line, which is 4.1.10, "Land Cost," the land cost that has been increased is under NPS 36.  That is the north section of the application.  


The land cost is noted as being $3,215,000, and, as the update indicates, that cost is now in excess of $10 million. 


My first series of questions has to do with whether or not there will be an effect on the gas delivery agreement, and the reason that I am bringing that up is because there is a capital contribution of 17.7 million that's referred to.


So the gas delivery agreement is found at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5, and the capital contribution is at the very back and it starts on page 38 of 58.  So that is Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5, page 38.


At the very top of page 39, the capital contribution on August 1st, 2007 is $10 million and 7.7 million on September 1st, 2007.


MR. STOLL:  If I might just have ‑‑ if ‑‑ this panel can speak to the capital costs of the construction, but as far as the actual gas delivery agreement and the calculation, that would be better left for the next panel.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Why don't we save that one?  Can they speak to the ‑‑ can they give us an indication of the effect on the estimated costs by the increase in the land and indicate to us why that increase occurred?  Why was the estimate of 3.2 so low compared to what the cost appears it will be at the end of this, over 10 million?


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  The progress of the negotiations I think is probably best left to the third panel that will deal with the land issues.  I think this panel can talk to the impact of adding a minimum of 6.8 million to the cost structure.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Can you tell me about the impact of adding 6.8 million to the cost structure?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Can you explain the $6.8 million, what figure we are talking about?  I'm not clear.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's the difference between the 10 million update and the 3.2 million estimate that appears in the table of costs that was filed in the prefiled evidence.


MR. McDERMOTT:  Okay.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So to take you back, it is Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.  It gives me a total estimated project cost of $41.7 million, and on the second page the estimated external costs under table 5, 4.1.10, the land cost for the north section is shown as 3.2 million.  We have now been told it is over 10 million.


MR. McDERMOTT:  The delta is on account of the feedback from Ontario Realty Corporation and Hydro One that the cost of the ‑‑ the 10 million figure that you see would reflect the cost of the land.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right now in the updated evidence, you said it just above $10 million.  Any idea if it is going to be that much higher than $10 million?


MR. McDERMOTT:  We are currently still in negotiations, so I really can't say.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And when will that number become known?


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is a question that is probably best suited for our land negotiator in probably the next panel.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett, do you have anything?


MR. BRETT:  I have no questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Panel.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on that, picking up on the last point, just so we don't have to invite you guys back after the next panel, the questions that may arise from the increase in costs and what underpins that move from 3 to 10 million.  Given that magnitude, if it stays in that range, is there anything that would change the routing that you guys have assessed as to this being the most appropriate economic route?  Anything in that delta that would cause you to rethink the routing?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  No, there isn't.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  The question Ms. Campbell asked is what's the impact of moving from $3 million to about $10 million.  I am not sure I got the full answer.  


Would it result in an additional capital contribution from the client, from the customer?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  It's my understanding that there are provisions within the gas delivery agreement that would increase the contribution.  However, that question I believe is best suited for the next panel who can directly deal with issues of the gas delivery agreement.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Who could tell me in terms of the total economics of the project?  Do I take it it doesn't change because any increase in costs?  Because of the gas delivery agreement, then you have recourse to pick that up from the customer; is that how it works?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  That would be my understanding of it, but again, the next panel will be able to address those questions for you. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Forgive me for asking those questions, but I want to make sure I don't lose the opportunity.  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Absolutely.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Is there anybody on this panel can tell me what would be the difference in the routing of the project -- I believe there were five or six alternatives you looked at.  Mr. Wesenger, I believe you spoke to it.  


MR. WESENGER:  My role was specific to the south section. 


MR. VLAHOS:  South.  Okay.  Can someone tell me the combination of the north and south.  If I were to take the least-cost routing versus the proposed one, what delta am I looking at?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  Currently the route that is selected for the north section is the most cost-effective route.  So that route is already the lowest-cost route.  


MR. VLAHOS:  On the south, can somebody tell me?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Yes.  Similarly the south section is the most direct, and therefore the lowest cost alternative for the routing.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Something else that just occurred to me.  I don't know if we're going to have the opportunity to look at this a little closer, but the question was posed as to the offset of 35 feet.  


I now have available all of the original Board decisions from 1971.  Will you be offering to this Panel to have a read of it to provide their opinion on anything in the decision that was relied on that is either not current, meaning have any standards replaced the thinking at that time?  Or -- we are left with at this point this Panel can't comment on what the standards were in 1971, but I think that is an important detail.  


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  We can try and look through the reference to see if there are any different criteria that the Board had in front of it, but right now the project is certainly designed to meet today's standards.  If I am assuming this code is like most other codes, it hasn't become more lax; it's gotten more stringent.  


To the extent that we're compliant with today's standard and Code, I think that should be the standard we are judged against, but I will try to see if I can highlight any differences that were at play at that time.  Given the time and the quality of record, I am not sure that I will be able to.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Just on that, we have the fact here there was a condition attached by this Board to the existing pipeline, the 35-foot setback.  When you are talking to your experts, it may be that the technology has changed, but the safety risk is no longer as great.  It may be that the Board back in 1971 just came out of the air with this, but we are obviously concerned that this is a condition that was in the last leave to construct.  Your proposal would breach that condition if a similar condition was attached because it is even closer than the existing one.  So we are trying to figure out what the rationale was, why this was put in and why it shouldn't apply to this line.  


MR. STOLL:  I understand.  I appreciate the Board's concern.  From what we have was the criteria between what Hydro One is requiring for us for locating and the other design standards to the TSSA, we're meeting those.  As far as specific condition from the Board, I will have to go through and see what we can find in the record and address the Board's concern with that issue.  


MR. KAISER:  Was I right from my earlier understanding that if the pressure is less than 40 percent there are no standards?  There would be the setback. 


MR. STOLL:  The setback is to the edge of right of way.  The right of way can be a variable width, obviously.


MR. KAISER:  Well, you can't go on somebody else's property, but you can go right up to their property?  


MR. STOLL:  Precisely. 


MR. KAISER:  I.e., no setback. 


MR. STOLL:  Correct. 


MR. KAISER:  So I am right?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. McDermott, when we asked you whether you considered moving it over to the east, as Mr. Beatty requested, you said, no, that wasn't an option, Ontario Realty Corporation and Hydro One had other plans for the land which you were not at liberty to disclose.  


Can I take it you simply never considered an option, other than one on the west?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  The option to go on the west was considered.  However, Hydro One, as mentioned before, they're the owners of the land, and they have instructed us that we must be on the west side of the corridor. 


MR. KAISER:  So I am right.  You never considered an option on the east side of this corridor?  You never did any evaluation, any testing; it just wasn't an option for you? 


MR. McDERMOTT:  No, we did not.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, just before we leave this Panel, would this Panel be able to answer more questions about the city of Toronto's request for condition on the approval regarding the as-built drawings?  Or are we going to revisit this?  


MR. STOLL:  If your questions are regarding the basis for the estimate that we have provided and the ability to satisfy the condition, this Panel could speak to those matters.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Let's start with that, then.  Gentlemen, are any of you aware of any similar condition in the past of this nature?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  I am not aware of any past decisions that required an Ontario land surveyor to certify the drawings, to the best of my knowledge. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you believe it is a reasonable request?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  I believe that certainly accuracy of drawings is paramount.  However, I do believe that Enbridge's standard procedures to have pipeline inspectors on site measuring distances to the pipeline are very good.  Furthermore, with this project, it has already been planned that the pipeline inspectors would use global positioning to make reference to all welds as a part of the radiographic inspection, and using that GPS coordinates and measurements taken from the inspectors, we would be able to create a set of very accurate drawings for submission to the city of Toronto.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I am presuming you have advanced those arguments with the city?  


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Vlahos' question is:  Have you made the city aware that we will be GPSing and providing that information?  


MR. NACZYNSKI:  To this point I have not communicated that to the city that we would be going that extra bit.  We were responding to the city's response for an Ontario land surveyor, and that was the purpose of the undertaking.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I take it that this is money that is going to be recovered from the ratepayers in some fashion, whether it is rate-baseable this year or next year?  


MR. STOLL:  The next panel can talk about the contribution, but because we are in contribution in aid of construction, any additional cost as part of the true-up around the actual cost will be to the credit of Portlands or to the debit of Portlands Energy Centre, depending on where it ends up.


MR. VLAHOS:  So make it singular as opposed to a plural?


MR. STOLL:  Portlands Energy Centre will ultimately pick up the cost in the determination of the actual cost of the project.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Do they have a say into this matter at all?


MR. STOLL:  They are an intervenor in this process.  We have been making them aware of the issues.  We have not had any formal response from them with respect to this.


Given the size of the estimate of $240,000, although significant to most people in this room, in I think the grand scheme of this project, which is in excess of $40 million and with the new land costs approaching the $45- to $50 million area, I think the $200,000 isn't considered a hugely material item for them to take to task right now.


I would have to -- if they want to speak to the issue and add further, I am quite happy to hear from them.


MR. VLAHOS:  I am trying to understand the principle behind this, this request.  What is the difference in this Portlands application as opposed to many other leave-to-construct applications that the Board has heard over the years within the city limits?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  I'm sorry, could you restate the question?


MR. VLAHOS:  I can read exactly -- what it is, I am trying to understand the principle behind this; that is, the city's request.  What is the difference that this Portlands application has as opposed to many other applications that have been before the Board by Enbridge?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Unfortunately, I don't have a specific answer.  I am not too sure what the specific ‑‑ obviously, the city of Toronto has a number of issues that they outline.  However, I don't see how this -- this filing would be different than any other one.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, let me understand.  Are you in support of that request, or not?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Enbridge will certainly comply with the request to have the pipeline ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  This is my question.  Are you in support of this request, or not?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  Yes, I am in support of this request.


MR. VLAHOS:  You are.  Why?


MR. NACZYNSKI:  That ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  If I may, I think when we spoke earlier, we had said we weren't opposing the request and we were leaving it to the Board's decision.  I think the city outlined their concerns in their original letter.


To the extent that this is a significant project, an NPS 20 pipe in the downtown Toronto area, they may feel that that is enough of a difference for them to warrant the extra additional information.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, the problem is they're not here.  They're not here.  You have adopted that request.


MR. STOLL:  Right.  I have said that we haven't opposed it and I have provided the Board with the information on what it will cost.  Because Enbridge, from a financial perspective, isn't going to be burdened with the additional cost and Portlands hasn't taken a position that they're opposed, it won't have a material impact on our ability to meet the schedule.  If it is a requirement that the Board, given the cost, feels is appropriate, Enbridge will comply.


We had had a discussion at the Technical Conference about whether this was required or not.  Again, the city wasn't there to make their views known, and so we had taken the position that we wouldn't oppose it.  We weren't saying that we were endorsing this specifically.  We are saying certainly we didn't want this as a matter to ‑‑ to become a matter of routine.


MR. VLAHOS:  My last question on this, then, is:  Is anyone on the panel concerned about the precedent value of this going forward?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Can you explain?  Are you referring to the present value of the ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  No, the precedent value.  That is, if the Board were inclined to approve this request, this condition, then is the panel concerned that going forward the city will have similar requests on similar projects?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Yes, we are.


MR. VLAHOS:  You are concerned about the precedent that this will set?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Yes, we are.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, just on a related matter, some of these costs clearly are not fixed at this point.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.  


MR. KAISER:  Including the land costs?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  Which stand to be a lot bigger than these engineering costs that the city of Toronto is concerned about, or Ontario land survey costs?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  When do the land costs get finalized?


MR. STOLL:  The land costs will be finalized when we reach a negotiated settlement over the agreement and the compensation for the land rights.


So it would be prior to the ‑‑ should the Board grant leave, we will continue negotiating.  We will enter into the agreements prior to construction.


MR. KAISER:  Well, my question is different.  Are we going to know the land costs before we have to issue a decision?


MR. STOLL:  I would suspect we won't have a definitive answer, because I don't think we will have finalized negotiations, given Mr. Brett is here and has some issues.  I would assume ‑‑ we're negotiating on a number of fronts on the land issues.


MR. KAISER:  Are we to take comfort in the fact - I am paraphrasing here - that we don't need to worry about that, because whatever increase in the land costs, if they go to 15 million or whatever, the increment, the delta is all going to get picked up by Portlands?


MR. STOLL:  That would be correct.  The other ratepayers aren't at risk for any cost overruns.


MR. KAISER:  Is that provision in this contract somewhere?  Can you point us to the section that says any increase in costs above X is to the account of the customer?


MR. STOLL:  Ms. Campbell took you to that place in the contract.  It doesn't say ‑‑ it basically says there will be a true‑up around the actual costs for the pipeline.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, but it doesn't say it is to the account of Portlands.  It says there is a true‑up.  Is that what I am supposed to read into that?


MR. STOLL:  It's a true‑up to the contribution in aid of construction, which is paid by Portlands.


MR. KAISER:  So that is how you read that, that any increase in costs over and above the current estimate is going to get picked up by Portlands?


MR. STOLL:  As long as they're prudently incurred costs and reasonable costs, Portlands will have an opportunity to question the expenditures.


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought so.  So let's suppose we're sitting on this case.  We don't know what the total cost is going to be and city of Toronto, TEDCO or somebody, decides they want another couple of millions of dollars for one reason or another.  Does Portlands have to approve that or do you get the contract, sign the deal and say send us the cheque?


MR. STOLL:  It is not one of these situations where Enbridge is not conscious of the spending of money.  It is a significant amount of money.  We are continually talking to Portlands letting them know where the costs are coming in and whether there is an increase or decrease.


MR. KAISER:  Is there a means of passing that cost on to OPA or somebody?  Is this a situation where it all gets passed on and ultimately the consumer pays for it?


MR. STOLL:  I don't know the terms of the accelerated -- the clean energy supply agreement that they have with the OPA, so I am not sure how the costs would eventually get passed on.


Portlands is an intervenor in this proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  It seems a little bit surprising to me that the guys that are going to be footing a big chunk of this bill aren't here.  That's just ‑‑ they trust your judgment, and, Ontario Energy Board, don't you worry because ratepayers aren't going to pick up any of these costs?  That's what you're saying.


MR. STOLL:  Yes, it is in a nutshell, but I think to the extent that if the costs are not reasonable at the end of the day, when we file our post-construction report, if the costs aren't reasonable, then Portlands has the right to come back to this Board and say, Hold on.


MR. KAISER:  What process would that be?


MR. STOLL:  If there was a complaint regarding the application of the contribution in aid of construction, I would assume that we would come back to the Board if Portlands, at the end of the day, was not satisfied with the expenditures.


MR. KAISER:  So do you mean to say we could issue a leave to construct -- what, would it be subject to approval of Portlands on the cost; is that what you're suggesting?


MR. STOLL:  I am not suggesting that at all.  I'm suggesting that at the end of the day, if the costs were estimated to be 48 million and Portlands said, you know, we really think the costs should be 47 million and that the 1 million really wasn't reasonable, I'm saying they could make that point regarding the final true‑up of the number.


To the extent that the estimates change, Portlands has been advised all the way through this of where we are and what the cost estimates are.  


If they have a concern, they could come before the Board and make that concern known.  They are an intervenor in this proceeding.  They have been made aware.  We continually dialogue with them over the cost.  


They have not said to date that the costs are unreasonable or unacceptable.  If the costs balloon to $200 million or something of that magnitude, I would imagine there might be an issue regarding the feasibility of the entire project, but I think some of the small incremental costs, as far as the budget is from 41 to the higher 40s, given that their announcement was that this project was in the $730 million construction value range, I think this is one of the smaller issues on their plate to worry about.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, I am aware of this post-construction, I guess reports we call them, whatever the appropriate name is --


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. VLAHOS:  -- that come to the Board. 


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. VLAHOS:  I thought that the reason of those reports is that it becomes sort of some information for Board Staff to use if they wish to question the prudence of certain expenditures before those dollars find themselves into rate base or recovered by customers.  I am aware of that.  I am not aware of the process you describe that a customer that was asked to pay a higher contribution in aid of construction has the ability to come forward to recapture some of those monies.  Maybe you can tell me where the authority is in the Act.  I am not familiar with that.  


MR. STOLL:  To the extent that there is a concern about the application of the economic analysis, I would take it that is like any other economic analysis Enbridge performs, in that any customer who was not happy with the application of the model from EBO 188 could make a complaint to the Board that Enbridge has not calculated the contribution in aid of construction in accordance with the requirements.  


The contract specifically provides that Enbridge is going to do the true-up around the actual and that it will provide additional information beyond what is contained in the post-construction report, so that Portlands will be able to determine that and reach the conclusion that costs are reasonable.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess that is what I'm trying to do.  I'm seeking some help.  What part of the Act would Portlands have the ability to do that?  Is that a complaint to the Board?  Is that sort of a different process we are talking about here?  


MR. STOLL:  That is the way I would envision it unfolding at the end of the day -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Specifically on that narrow point.  It would seem for the sake of accuracy through this process it's been defined what the methodology is going to be to the economic evaluation, and that is an accuracy test.  But a prudency test would be certainly something, as I'm sure would agree, it is totally a different scope.  


MR. STOLL:  It is a different scope, but I think they're what related.  We can provide the receipts and invoices on all of the contracts to substantiate the cost.  


If the number that Enbridge pays is a thousand dollars, that's what is paid.  To the extent that we base our calculations on that, we've calculated the number correctly.  


To the extent that Portlands at the end of the day may have a concern that it shouldn't have been a thousand, it should have been 800, they're free to raise that concern as far as the amount, and they may characterize it as an unreasonable expenditure.  But I guess I'm...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I pose a hypothetical as to how we may view these different costs.  The Chair asked a moment ago, or suggested, we should get some relief or comfort from the fact that it would not be going directly to ratepayers.  It would be Portlands that would be picking up the delta in any of these items, estimated to actual.  


It certainly takes on a totally different light if the Board is going to have a second round of testing the prudency of it.  In the first order, we should be looking at that as to what the outcome may be in the second order.  So there really isn't a comfort level this isn't going to ratepayers, if again this would come back to the Board for a test of the prudency and through a complete process.  


MR. STOLL:  I think any application of prudency test wouldn't go to the subject matter.  It would maybe go to the quantum of the certain expenditure.  


Portlands is quite free and able to communicate any of the issues they have with the costs, and to date they have been comforted with the information provided by Enbridge.  As I've said, Enbridge is constantly in contact with them regarding any updates to the process.  


To the extent that Portlands has a concern, I would have expected them, like any large organization, if they have a concern with the costs, I would have expected them to maybe address that issue now, if there was such a concern.  


So although technically I think the possibility exists, at this point I don't see it as a probable circumstance or outcome.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Let me just risk at beating a dead horse here.  


If the Board was concerned that A, we didn't know the costs and there might be some impact on the ratepayers, could the Board approve and grant this leave to construct on the condition that any costs to increments above X were borne by Portlands?  Would that condition cause you any problem, or Portlands?  


MR. STOLL:  Well, currently Portlands bears the cost beyond what is recovered through rates.  So to the extent that it's 5 million, 6 million or 7 million - I think the current number is 17 million prior to the change in land assessment - it could be a condition.  But I think it is redundant because the contract provides for that.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, it does and it doesn't.  You just finished saying that if they didn't like the numbers they could come back to the Board.  That suggests that the contract doesn't provide for it.  But let's say we agree.  Let's suppose the contract does provide for that.  


Are there any cost increases above X -- whatever X is, whatever is on the record today --  


MR. STOLL:  Right. 


MR. KAISER:  -- if we granted an order subject to the condition that any cost increases be borne by Portlands, you would say you don't think they should object to that; you could notify them because you think that is what the contract means anyway?  Have I paraphrased it right?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  If the Board would like, we can undertake to contact Portlands. 


MR. KAISER:  I think you should tell them that -- I think, by now, from all three Panel members you have some gist of our concern.  


MR. STOLL:  I am aware of the panel's concern and I think part of it is driven by the -- it is a significant amount of money that's at stake here.  


I think one of the primary concerns from Enbridge is that it is adequately protected through the commercial arrangement, and also that other ratepayers are correctly protected.  We felt the contract and the provision that Portlands would provide an aid to construct based on the actual costs would provide such protection.  


To the extent that those costs are moving, Portlands is able to raise a statement and say, at this point we have a problem with the costs.  And to date they haven't done that.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  I suppose what the Chair is getting at here is there is two options for Portlands, they can either seek regulatory methodology to mitigate their risk or a commercial one.  


MR. STOLL:  Correct. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Our suggestion would be, as it looks now, they should rely on both perhaps.  


MR. STOLL:  Oh, you're suggesting that A, the contractual issues would be -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm suggesting that there be clarity as to where they should be seeking their protection.  


MR. STOLL:  Clarity is always desirable.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, you mentioned about how the ratepayers are really safeguarded in this arrangement.  I take it you are talking about the gas ratepayers of Enbridge.  You are not talking about the Ontario ratepayers of electricity?  


MR. STOLL:  I am not talking about the Ontario ratepayers for electricity, because, quite frankly, that is not before the Board, and I don't know what the impact of the Portlands facility will be on price.  I think part of the discussion around Portlands has been the facility is needed to deliver power to Toronto to keep the lights on.  I don’t know how the availability of power to meet the requirements is before the Panel at this point, and I don't know how we would put a price on it right now. 


MR. VLAHOS:  What I was trying to get to is to the extent Portlands will face an additional or higher cost than otherwise may be the case, and it may be reasonable for one to assume that those costs will make their way into the marketplace; i.e., ratepayers' pockets. 


MR. STOLL:  I can't comment on how their contract works.  When I refer to the ratepayers, I refer to Enbridge's ratepayers.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I appreciate that.


Now, is my understanding correct that the contracts between Portlands and the Power Authority, that those are confidential?


MR. STOLL:  That's my understanding, that those were confidential agreements.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.


MR. STOLL:  I just have one re-direct question for the panel, and then I will be done with them.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  This goes to Mr. McDermott.


To determine the impact of the additional land cost, one would just add the incremental cost to the cost in the schedule to determine the impact.


So rather than 3.2, that number would change to 10 million; correct?


MR. McDERMOTT:  That's correct.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And those are my questions for this panel.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  Thank you, panel.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Chair, at this time I would like this panel to be dismissed and I am in your hands regarding timing.  I see we're at ten to 12:00.


[Witness panel withdrew]


I have the commercial panel.  I don't have much for them on direct.  I am not sure if there are many questions.  I would assume, given the Board's question, it may take a few minutes.  Would now be a convenient --


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you put their direct evidence in, and then we will break for lunch, if that is convenient?


MR. STOLL:  That is convenient for me.


My apologies.  Mr. Rowe has gone to get two of the panel members who are downstairs in the Enbridge room.  They will be here in just a few moments.


And just for point of clarity, Mr. McDermott and Mr. Naczynski will be coming back on the third panel, so they will remain sworn and we will not be speaking during the breaks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stoll, should I swear in your new member?


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I will have two additional witnesses coming in.


MR. QUESNELLE:  In addition; so there will be five?


MR. STOLL:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  But they have previously been sworn?


MR. STOLL:  The two previous are going on the third.  This is the second panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I will wait, then.


MR. STOLL:  Ms. Chin will be sworn and there will be two others.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I misunderstood.


MR. STOLL:  I apologize if there is any confusion.


Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Rowe told me the on-air is cutting in and out and the witnesses were having problems hearing downstairs.


I appreciate the Panel's patience.  If the witness panel could be sworn.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2


Gordana Arsic, Sworn


Edith Chin, Sworn


Stuart Murray, Sworn


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. STOLL: 

MR. STOLL:  We will start at the far end, closest to the reporter.  Can you state your name and position and your involvement in this project.  


MS. ARSIC:  Yes, my name is -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  The green button, you have to press.  The microphone.  


MS. ARSIC:  Oh, sorry.  My name is Gordana Arsic.  I am senior financial analyst in Enbridge.  I was involved in calculating the economic feasibility for the project.  


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Next?  


MR. MURRAY:  My name is Stuart Murray.  I am the manager of financial assessment at Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I was involved in calculating the economic feasibility of the project as well.  


MS. CHIN:  My name is Edith Chin.  I am the manager of distributed energy with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I'm part of a team which prepared and negotiated the gas delivery agreement with the customer, Portlands Energy Centre.  


MR. STOLL:  Ms. Arsic, you were involved in the preparation of the evidence, and you have reviewed that evidence?


MS. ARSIC:  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  And you accept that evidence as your evidence for the purposes of this hearing?  


MS. ARSIC:  Yes, I do.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes or corrections that you would like to make at this time?  


MS. ARSIC:  No, I don't.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  There's a little confusion with the mikes.  The panels actually work together, so one button will operate the mike for both on this side. 


MR. MURRAY:  These two?  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  All right.  I apologize.  Excuse me, Mr. Murray.  You were involved in the preparation of the evidence and you have reviewed that evidence.  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this hearing?  


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, I do.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes, corrections or additions you would like to make at this time?  


MR. MURRAY:  No, I do not.  


MR. STOLL:  Ms. Chin, you were involved in the preparation of the evidence for this hearing in respect to the gas delivery agreement.  Do you adopt that as your evidence before this Panel?  


MS. CHIN:  Yes, I do. 


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any corrections or additions or clarifications that you would like to make at this time?  


MS. CHIN:  No, I don't at this time.  


MR. STOLL:  There are only a couple of questions I have, and they go to the economic feasibility.  


In analysing this project with the contribution in aid of construction, does this project satisfy the feasibility requirements for Enbridge?  


MS. ARSIC:  Yes, it does.  It means the minimum required threshold acceptance of 1.0. 


MR. STOLL:  The 1.0, that's the profitability index? 


MS. ARSIC:  That's the profitability index after the contribution.  


MR. STOLL:  The profitability index of 1.0 indicates that the project is recovering its costs?  


MS. ARSIC:  Yes.  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  Those are my questions.  I will turn them over to Ms. Campbell, or we can take the break for lunch.  I leave it in your hands.  


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to go now or after lunch?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  It doesn't really matter to me.  We have touched on -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Campbell, put your microphone on.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I don't know how long it's going to take, because we have already had a taste of how interesting the gas agreement, and specifically the contribution capital, is.  That might provoke more of a discussion which could take us past where you might want to break for lunch.  


It might be preferable for us to start after the lunch break.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will come back at one o'clock.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:04 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:18 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stoll.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Before we begin, Mr. Chair, over the lunch hour a letter was ‑‑


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Campbell, your microphone.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Over the lunch hour a letter was hand-delivered to the Board Secretary in relation to this case.  It is a letter of comment.  It comes from Ms. Christine Becker, at 86 Cavehill Crescent, Scarborough, and I will be giving it Exhibit No. J15.


EXHIBIT NO. J15:  LETTER FROM CHRISTINE BECKER

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  One other matter.


The exhibit that was referred to by Mr. McDermott, we have had copies made and I have provided them to Board Staff.  That is the TSSA guidelines for development in the vicinity of oil and gas pipeline facilities, PI-98/02, dated August '98.


MR. STOLL:  And the part is in the section "Minimum Setbacks" that Mr. McDermott had referred to, just to point you to it.


When we had finished, I was done with direct examination with this panel, so I am opening it up to Ms. Campbell for questions from Board Staff, unless the Board has any questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Campbell.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  One of the documents that was referred to by someone in the animated discussion that took place before we broke was the Portlands Energy Centre accelerated clean energy supply contract, and the plant has a 20‑year contract with the OPA.  


I notice that what was filed was a letter notifying the Board -- sorry, notifying Enbridge that the contract was entered into September 18th, 2006, and there was a news release that was also filed.  And just for clarity on the record, that is found at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 4, and the section that deals with this starts at, as I said, schedule 4. 


It consists of the news release that I referred to and the letter from the Portlands Energy Centre, and a brief narrative concerning the contract is on schedule 3, page 1 of 1.


I notice that the contract itself has not been filed, and it has not been filed in confidence, either.


Would the applicant be averse to filing that contract in confidence?


MR. STOLL:  We don't have the contract.  That contract is between Portlands Energy Centre and the Ontario Power Authority, so we have never seen the contract.  That's between those two parties.


To my knowledge, the contracts between the OPA and the generators or suppliers are usually kept confidential, other than the standard terms that appear through the RFP proceedings.  But this was not through an RFP; this was through direct negotiations.


So I am not sure what their parties' positions would be regarding confidentiality, but I presume it would be that they want their documents to remain confidential.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And Portlands Energy Centre is an intervenor, is it not?


MR. STOLL:  It is.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Do we have anybody here from the Portlands Energy Centre?  Can you advise us if you have a position, or would you like to tell us after the break?


Would Portlands consider ‑‑ you probably should get close to a microphone, just for this brief exchange, just to assist the reporter in capturing your language.  


I am just asking you if you could ‑‑ if you -- we asked if it could be filed in confidence.  What would your position be on that?


MS. BUTCHER:  I will have to check with -- we have to have approval of the OPA, obviously, and I would think that Portlands would prefer it not be filed, but I will have to check.


MS. CAMPBELL:  In confidence or otherwise?  


MS. BUTCHER:  In confidence or otherwise.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right, thank you very much.  You will advise us of the outcome of that discussion?  Thank you.


Now what I would like to move to -- we touched on this briefly before, and that is the gas distribution agreement.  It is found in Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5.  It's 58 pages long.  The page that I wish to go to -- the pages I wish to go to start at page 38, and then over to the top of page 39.


As I mentioned before, I found out I was asking the questions of the wrong panel.  There is a contribution in aid of construction, and it is 10 million August 1st and 7.7 million September 1st.


We have discussed the fact that the land, the ORC -- the ORC's cost of the land for the north section, the cost is going to be over 10 million as opposed to 3.2 million, and my first question has ‑‑ goes to the discussion that occurred that -- I believe Mr. Stoll indicated that all of the increase of the land costs will be reflected in the contribution in aid of construction.


Could someone on the panel confirm that to me?  Ms. Chin?


MS. CHIN:  If you can repeat the question, I would appreciate that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Currently, there is a contribution in aid of construction that is $17.7 million.  The land costs were 3.2 million, but as of, I believe, the most recent filing it is now in excess of 10 million.


So there is a difference of $6.8 million.


MS. CHIN:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Will the $6.8 million be reflected in the contribution in aid of construction?


MS. CHIN:  I would like to draw your attention to a few paragraphs.  The first one is the footnote to the table you are referring to, as well as a couple of paragraphs underneath.  I would just briefly summarize them, and then I would answer your question.


The first one is a note to paragraph (c) and (d), which is that:

"The above dates and amounts are estimates only.  The actual timing and amounts will be based on the date on which the company commits to the relevant costs, as well as the actual relevant costs."


The second point I would like to draw your attention to is paragraph (e), which says that:  

"The company shall keep the customer reasonably informed of the material changes to the estimated CIAC..."

which is the contribution,   

"...and the actual CIAC; and two, resulting changes, if any, to the amounts in payment schedule set out above in paragraphs (c) and (d)."


Then I would draw your attention to (f), which is:  

"Within nine months of completion of the installation and commissioning of the above-noted distribution lines and related infrastructure, the company will establish a final amount of the CIAC based on the actual costs incurred to complete such installation and commissioning and shall notify the customer of such a final amount and any remaining amounts owing by the customer or the company, as the case may be, in order to balance the total CIAC payments made by the customer against the final CIAC."


In other words, the contribution payments is based on the actual costs, and if we are aware that the actual costs or the estimate of the actual costs would change between the actual construction, we will keep the customer informed.  We will be doing the calculations, again, based on what we think is the latest estimate, and if the contribution increased, then the customer will be provided with that information.


MS. CAMPBELL:  My question was:  Will the $6.8 million - that is, the difference between the 3.2 estimate for land and the current update - will that be reflected in the contribution in aid of construction?  


I take it that your answer is, yes, it will be?  


MS. CHIN:  There will be a recalculation of the contribution.  It's needed.  And whatever that number is, it may or may not be actually $6.8 million, but there would be a recalculation of what the contribution is and the customer will be paying that difference in the contribution.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Currently the update says it is at least 10 million.  So your answer to me, I just want to make sure that I understand, is that whatever the cost is of the land, whether it is 10 million or 20 million, it will be paid and added to the contribution in aid of construction.  It will be a cost that is borne by the customer, the customer being the customer to the gas agreement?  


MS. CHIN:  If there are changes to the cost, there will be a recalculation of the feasibility, and according to that calculation, any contribution will be paid by the customer.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  There's a recalculation of economic feasibility?  


MS. CHIN:  Yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  How is that going to be affected?  Is that going to affect the economic feasibility of the project?  


MS. CHIN:  If the costs change, then the feasibility would be recalculated.  So if it is higher or lower, than the customer would be appraised, and they would be paying whatever the calculated contribution will be.   


MR. KAISER:  But if the additional cost all goes to additional contribution -- 


MS. CHIN:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  -- doesn't the feasibility remain the same?  


MS. CHIN:  If... sorry, may I have that again?  


MR. KAISER:  If any additional cost is all passed on to the customer through additional contributions in aid, the feasibility from an Enbridge perspective remains unchanged?  


MS. CHIN:  Correct.  


MR. KAISER:  So you're not really recalculating the feasibility.  You're recalculating the contribution.  


MS. CHIN:  Correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, we have talked about the customer in aid of contribution.  That section would change as the costs change; right?  


MS. CHIN:  Correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Is there any other section of the gas delivery agreement that would be affected by the increased costs, aside from the one that we have just discussed?  


MS. CHIN:  Sorry, may I have your question again?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Is there any other section of the gas delivery agreement that would change to reflect increased costs, aside from pages 38 and 39 that deal with the contribution in aid of construction?  


MS. CHIN:  Potentially, if there is a need, the financial assurances could change, too.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And they would change in what fashion?  In moving up, they would be increased?  


MS. CHIN:  If there is a need.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Would the need correspond to the increase in costs?  


MS. CHIN:  If there is an increase in costs, which precipitate an increase in contribution, we would pursue to ask for more contribution.  


If there is an increase in costs, and depending on the timing, and if it requires an increase in financial assurance, we may demand higher financial assurance.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  There were tables on estimated costs filed.  Do you intend to file updates on the estimated costs, given the fact that the cost of land has now changed?  Mr. Stoll?  


MR. STOLL:  We can file updated information as it becomes available.  But currently, because we haven't settled on a number, anything beyond what we've provided is somewhat speculative.  We can commit to update the Board as actual costs become known in respect to the land.  That's not a problem.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Currently you have updated to 10 million.  You will undertake to update when it increases beyond that?  I take it it's not going to come down?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  And we can get this later in the panel, but that was the minimum number that Enbridge was aware was a possibility.  


So that was the only number we felt we were comfortable providing the Board, and also we thought it was a material enough change the Board should be aware of it. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, you referenced about talking about the increase in costs later.  Let's just deal with it now.  The cost has tripled since you prefiled your evidence.  What is the reason for the tripling in the cost?  


A better question is:  You estimated 3.2 million.  What has occurred between the time you prefiled your evidence in September to now that has caused that estimate to be out as significantly as it is?  


MS. CHIN:  I would defer that to the next panel, which are responsible for negotiation of the easement cost.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  We will defer it to then.  


We have also touched on the fact that whatever increase in costs occur, you believe they will all be captured in the contribution in aid of construction.  


Am I correct that there would be no impacts on Enbridge ratepayers by the increase in these costs?  Am I correct on that?  


MS. CHIN:  Correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  The increase in costs will be recovered strictly through the contributions in aid of construction?  


MS. CHIN:  Correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Those are the questions for this Panel.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett, do you have anything?  


MR. BRETT:  No, Mr. Chairman.  Nothing.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chin, on the last exchange you had with Ms. Campbell, there is a known number, a budget that is going to enter rate base which will impact rates.  There is a number; right?  It's a total cost minus the anticipated recovery for contribution in aid of construction; right?  


MS. CHIN:  Yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Can you tell me what that number is and where I can find it in the evidence?  


MS. CHIN:  Are you referring to what is the cost that  the -- the rate base that the project can support?  Is that the question?  


MR. VLAHOS:  No, what is the current estimate of the cost of the project.  It was $41 million or thereabouts.  Now we hear today that that number is underestimated by about $6.8 million because of what we have just been discussing.  Right?  


MS. CHIN:  Correct. 


MR. VLAHOS:  The increased land costs.  


MS. CHIN:  Correct. 


MR. VLAHOS:  If I were to take the original number of 41, I would subtract what the contribution in aid of construction was, which is about $17 million, so that is the number that would enter into the capital expenditure side of the company; i.e., rate base.  


So the question that Ms. Campbell asked, and I want to ask again is is there any possibility that that number will change?  


MS. CHIN:  May I take a moment and consult with my fellow panelists?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. CHIN:  Perhaps I can refer you to Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 2, page 5.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MS. CHIN:  And the calculation of the $17.7 million is based on the difference between the originally estimated $41.2 million minus the revenue stream that is ‑‑ that we intend to be able to capture from the project.


MR. VLAHOS:  Which column and row are you looking at?  I am on page 5 of 6 of schedule 2; right?


MR. MURRAY:  The total capital amount of 41742, outside of that we remove the contribution of 17.7 to come up with an amount of about $24 million that would go into rate base.  


But I believe the question was:  On top of that, do we anticipate any additional costs that would be added?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  How fixed is that number?  That's my question.


MS. CHIN:  That number is supported by the revenue which we intend to be generated by the project, and that is based on the annual demand charges from Rate 125 and those demand charges is directly related to essentially the contract demand of the customers.


So that does not change unless the rate tariff changes.


MR. VLAHOS:  And would the rate tariff change?  What's the rate classification that the Portlands Energy Centre would be served under?


MS. CHIN:  Rate 125 is the unbundled distribution rate.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And it is possible that that rate will be changing periodically?


MS. CHIN:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So what happens if there is a reduction in Rate 25 -- I should say 125?


MS. CHIN:  The contribution calculation is based on the parameters that we established today.


MR. VLAHOS:  I see.  So theoretically, then, if there is a decrease in Rate 125, then there would be a deficiency that would arise from servicing that customer?


MS. CHIN:  According to the calculation ‑‑ if the methodology of calculation rates is valid, then there should not be any cross-subsidization from Rate 125 customers with other rate classes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So are you saying that there will be no ‑‑ there is no sense that there will be any gap between the revenues recovered from that specific customer and the cost outlays because of this project?


MS. CHIN:  We are looking at today's parameters.  That is a hypothetical question.  I will not know how ‑‑ what the situation is to change a rate tariff.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Ms. Chin, let me just give you an example.  Say that we go through a cost allocation study and it is found that Rate 125 was made up of several customers, over-contributes, okay.  That's the example.  And, therefore, the Rate 125 decreases.


So working with that scenario, can you tell me -- are you able to tell me as to what will happen to the revenues that are to be forthcoming from the Portlands Energy Centre?  Is this covered in the agreement that we are talking about?


MS. CHIN:  Again, I think that that's a hypothetical question, but the fact that Rate 125 have very few customers, if there is an over-contribution from Rate 125 customers, then potentially the actual costs might be ‑‑ I think that this -- I am not sure that I can think of a situation where it may arise, so I don't know how to answer that hypothetical question.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, let me tell you how it could arise.  Say that you add another ten customers to Rate 125.  Therefore, the fixed costs that are associated with servicing those customers now, on average, are lower.


So I am just curious as to how the contract is structured, as to what will happen to the revenues that would be forthcoming from that contract.


Can you tell me?


MS. CHIN:  The customer will be paying a demand charge based on their contract demand and the unit demand charges which the rate-making group believe is fair for that rate class.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it is based on some volumetric assumption that there is so much demand -- there is a demand from that customer?


MS. CHIN:  It's based on their contract demand times the unit demand charges.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And those are fixed?


MS. CHIN:  The unit demand charges?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.


MS. CHIN:  They are part of the rate tariff.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  All right, those are all of my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Does that complete the questions?  Do you have anything further, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  No, I don't.


MR. KAISER:  Next panel.


MR. STOLL:  We have our next panel, which I will just ask this panel to be dismissed and we will...


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, panel.


[Witness panel withdrew]


MR. STOLL:  Apparently Mr. Tkach stepped out for a moment.  Mr. Rowe has gone to retrieve him.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 3


Samuel McDermott, Previously sworn.


Eric Naczynski, Previously sworn.


Walter Tkach, Sworn

MR. STOLL:  Mr. McDermott and Mr. Naczynski were sworn this morning.  They are aware they are still under oath. 

MR. STOLL:  Mr. McDermott and Mr. Naczynski were sworn this morning.  They are aware they are still under oath.  If Mr. Tkach could be sworn.  


WALTER TKACH; SWORN 


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR STOLL:  

MR. STOLL:  We have heard from Mr. Naczynski and Mr. McDermott on their roles.  They as project managers have also been involved with Mr. Tkach.  Mr. Tkach, can you state your position and involvement in this project?  


MR. TKACH:  My position is property agent with Enbridge Gas.  I was responsible for title searching the route, and I am also responsible for negotiating the appropriate land rights for this project.  


MR. STOLL:  You were involved in the preparation of the evidence that is part of this proceeding?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you adopt that evidence as your evidence here before us?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any changes, corrections or additions you would like to make?  


MR. TKACH:  I would like to refer to the Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 1 of 2, plus attachment; in particular, the update to negotiations regarding land rights dated April 10th, 2007, the north section, and at the back, the south section.  


In the north section, during the course of negotiations with Ontario Realty Corporation and Hydro One Networks Inc. it being became evident the cost of the land rights from the Ontario Realty Corporation will be significantly higher than originally estimated.  


This cost is now expected to be no less than 10 million compared to the original estimate of 3.2 million.  


MR. STOLL:  I am sure that my friend will follow up on this in more detail, but can you provide the basis upon which that change was made?  What changed that caused you to update the evidence?  


MR. TKACH:  The increase was directly attributable to the difference in the approach used to appraise land value.  We had applied Hydro One's approach in estimating the easement costs.  After our original filing, we were informed that Ontario Realty Corporation has its own approach, and that is to be used in connection with granting of this easement.  We were not made aware of ORC’s policy prior to our original filing.  The difference in approaches or methodology resulted in a significant increase.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  And you are still in the process of finalizing the negotiations with ORC in this respect?  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you have any other additions or clarifications you would like to make at this time?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  On the south section of tab 1, schedule 3, page 2 of 2, plus attachment, south section.  Ontario Power Generation has an existing tenant known as Studios of America Corporation.  As a result of ongoing communication difficulties with this tenant, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. is considering an application to expropriate the tenant in order to acquire the necessary easement from Ontario Power Generation to meet our construction schedule.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  I will turn the Panel over for cross-examination to Ms. Campbell.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  Ms. Campbell.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  First of all, to follow up on what you just discussed in the south section, are you trying to expropriate the tenant or the land that the tenant is on, or will one follow the other?  


MR. TKACH:  My understanding is that we will need to expropriate Ontario Power Generation as well as the tenant.   


MS. CAMPBELL:  What are the communication difficulties, and do you expect to resolve them? 


MR. TKACH:  We are always hopeful to resolve this situation; however, thus far the problem with the tenant has been that they are not coming forward to describe or address what their issues and concerns are.  In other words, they have been silent.  We have made many attempts to have them come forward, and unfortunately, we have not been successful.  


We felt that we had turned a corner on this matter when a meeting was arranged between a senior official from OPG and the tenant's lawyer on April 2nd.  Unfortunately, the lawyer had no concrete or positive information to pass on.  In fact he said the easement was not a very high-priority item with his client and that they have not voiced any comments or objections.  


Most recently, we made an offer to the tenant through their solicitor and sometime today a senior employee of Enbridge will be attempting to connect with one of the partners of Studios of America.  Then as I said, we are hopeful that these attempts will break their silence and that we could complete or negotiate -- or sorry, I apologize, so that we can complete the easement with Ontario Power Generation.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Will you keep the Board up-to-date on the progress in those negotiations?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes we will. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Is there anybody else in the south section that you are dealing with, or is that it?  In negotiations with, as opposed to completed negotiations.  


MR. TKACH:  We are still dealing with the Port Authority, Hydro One Networks, Toronto Economic Development Corporation, and those are the landowners in the south section.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So those easements are still in play and are still the subject of negotiation?  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And you will keep us up to date on the state of those negotiations also?  


MR. TKACH:  We will.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  With regard to the north section, in the answer that you gave you indicated that the original estimate of $3.2 million was a number that you arrived at when you were estimating land value because of a particular type of appraisal policy that you have at Enbridge?


MR. TKACH:  No.  It's the appraisal policy of Hydro One Networks. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry, Hydro One Networks. 


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And ORC has a different appraisal policy? 


MR. TKACH:  We found out ORC has a different approach or methodology or policy. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  As a result of that difference, the value -- the cost of the land, I apologize, the cost of the land for this application has more than tripled?  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me why there is such a significant difference in approach and why it resulted in such a significant difference in valuation?  


MR. TKACH:  I would like to go in details to compare the methodology; however, it may prejudice our ongoing negotiations with the landowners.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  You are saying you would like to, but you can't give us an explanation as to why it has trebled? 


MR. TKACH:  As I said, I would prefer not to because we're still having negotiations with other landowners which may be prejudiced, or may affect our negotiations with those landowners.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  The estimate is that it's going to be no less than $10 million.  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right?  And your previous estimate was really off.  How good is this estimate?  How much reliance can we place on this?  


MR. TKACH:  Well, we are still negotiating with Hydro One and Ontario Realty Corporation.  As we said, the estimate will be no less than 10 million.  It could exceed that.  We are looking at all avenues to keep the costs down.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  How much could it exceed that?  


MR. TKACH:  I would rather not answer that question, because it depends on how we are going to look at the -- what options we're going to be taking, without risking our ability to maintain the pipeline.  There are many options we're still looking at.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, so what you're saying is you can't give me an estimate of how much more it could be, because that will imperil negotiations?


MR. TKACH:  Again, these are estimates that we are providing, and it could change by the time that we've got final reference plans to finalizing the temporary working areas that we will be looking at or permanent working areas we will be looking at.  So there are a lot of variables that we are looking at to negotiate with Hydro One Networks and Ontario Realty Corporation.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And those are the two individuals you're still negotiating with right now?


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And any expectation of when you will be able to provide us with some comfort on the finality of the cost of the land?


MR. TKACH:  I wish I can give you a specific date, but I'm hopeful that we'll have completed our negotiations well before we begin construction in July.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And just some questions on the form of the easement.  I'm not going to touch on it in the way that -- I have advance knowledge that Mr. Brett will be touching upon it.  I simply want to know, you have filed as Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3 a 13-page document, "An Application to Register Notice of an Unregistered Estate, Right, Interest or Equity" is one ‑‑ is the cover of the document general, which is page 1 of the 13.  Page 2 is an "Agreement to Grant an Easement..." et cetera.


And is it your evidence that this is the form of easement that's been offered in the past to people that you ‑‑ sorry, landowners you've been negotiating with and is the form of the easement that you will be offering in the future?


MR. TKACH:  That is correct.  This agreement has been filed as evidence in the previous application that was referred to as the Scarborough reinforcement project.


MS. CAMPBELL:  In 1971?


MR. TKACH:  No.  Sorry, Scarborough reinforcement project this year, this past ‑‑ I'm not sure what the ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  I believe the Board reference number was EB‑2006‑0066.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


So just to clarify, the form of the easement that has been filed is offered to both ‑‑ this is the exact same easement that is offered to both private residential owners and entities such as Hydro One?


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I would now like to ask you a few questions about the letter that came in from the city, and specifically the request for land surveys, et cetera.  I take it this is the panel that can handle this.


You had indicated, Mr. Stoll, that someone would be available to give us a breakdown of how the $240,000 cost was arrived at.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. McDermott can speak to the cost basis for that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Sir, you recall, just to refresh everybody's memory, that the letter of January 30th from the city requested that certain drawings and/or records be filed immediately following the completion of construction, that a request was made by Staff at the Technical Conference to provide ‑‑ to attach a cost value to the fulfilment of that request, what would it cost if that request was, in fact, found by the panel that is hearing this matter to be an appropriate cost.


And the very last page of the white binder, panel, gave a breakdown that the north section would cost $140,000 and the south section $100,000.


And, Mr. McDermott, could you explain how those costs come to be $140,000 and $100,000 each, please?


MR. McDERMOTT:  Well, certainly.  We ‑‑ we contacted a certified Ontario land surveyor, Sexton McKay, and in order for them to certify the drawings, they would have to have someone on board during construction to monitor all aspects of the pipe laying.


And for this, the cost, the estimated cost that was given to us was $1,000 per day.  If you take this cost and you multiply it by the estimated time to construct the north section, which is 140 days, you will arrive at $140,000.


For the south section, the estimated time to construct the pipeline is about 100 days.  If you multiply that by $1,000, you will come up with $100,000.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you, Mr. McDermott.  Those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Panel.


Gentlemen, I represent the Economic Development Corporation of the city of Toronto.  I just have a few questions for you.


Would you turn up D1, tab 1, schedule 3?  That's the package of documents, the easement document package that you filed in your evidence.


This is probably for you, Mr. Tkach.


MR. TKACH:  I apologize.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  As you can see, there are 13 pages there, and there are several different documents.  The first document is entitled "Agreement to Grant Easement" and it is on -- that is from pages -- it looks like pages 2 through 5.  It's about a three‑page document.  Do you see that one?


Then the next one is an easement itself, which is about a two‑and‑a‑half‑page document, starting at page 7 and going over to page 9; right?


MR. TKACH:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Then there is a -- it looks like a land transfer.  Well, I guess there is a duplicate.


It looks like there is a duplicate of the easement here.


MR. TKACH:  If I may?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MR. TKACH:  The first document is the agreement to grant easement.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MR. TKACH:  You have the agreement to grant or the option portion, and attached to it as a schedule is the actual easement.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. TKACH:  The next document that we filed is the actual easement on its own.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MR. TKACH:  The second document that you referred to is our actual easement on its own -- 


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. TKACH:  -- that we filed.


MR. STOLL:  But it's the same document --


MR. TKACH:  It's the same document ‑‑


MR. BRETT:  ‑‑ that was attached to the agreement to grant easement; right?


MR. TKACH:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Then finally there is an affidavit, a land transfer tax affidavit, or, I should say, the third document, on page 12 is a land transfer tax affidavit; right?


MR. TKACH:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And then finally there is a one-page agreement called a "Working Area Agreement", which looks like an agreement under which you can come on the land and make the ‑‑ it's sort of a corollary agreement to the easement, if I can put it that way?


MR. TKACH:  It's a corollary agreement to the easement.  It is usually for temporary working rights adjacent to the permanent easement.


MR. BRETT:  Right, okay.  So now these four ‑‑ the land transfer tax affidavit is obviously a government document, but the other three documents, I take it, are your documents; you prepared these?  


MR. TKACH:  These are our standard easement forms.  


MR. BRETT:  And you prepared these documents for this hearing?  


MR. TKACH:  No, sir.  These documents have been filed in previous applications.  


MR. BRETT:  Can you tell me which ones?  


MR. TKACH:  The one that I just referred to previously, under examination.  I'm sorry, EBLO....


MR. STOLL:  The entire 13-page package was part of the reinforcement project, EB-2006-0066 --  


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. STOLL:  -- that was approved by the Board just this past...


MR. BRETT:  Were they filed at any other process that you've been involved in?


MR. TKACH:  I've been with land services close to 25 years, and a similar form which has changed a little bit here and there has been submitted more or less the 25 years that I have been with land services.  


MR. BRETT:  But the only other one that you're aware of at this particular -- this particular rendition of these documents has been filed is in this previous 0066 case?  


MR. TKACH:  And it's my understanding that it has also been filed with the Sithe project which, again, I'm sorry I can't quote the EBLO number.  


MR. BRETT:  That's your line between TransCanada and Sithe’s project in Mississauga; is that what you're referring to?  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  I was not -- I was not involved with that project directly.  


MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  You think it was filed in this form in that project, but you're not sure?  


MR. TKACH:  It is my understanding that the same form was filed.  


MR. BRETT:  Now, has the Board approved this document?  Or I guess maybe putting it another way, part of what you're seeking today is to have the Board approve this easement, this package of documents; is that correct?  


MR. TKACH:  What we're looking today is for the Board to approve our application as a whole.  


The easement document that we provide as evidence, and we have so in many previous applications to the Board, is filed and used as a benchmark in our negotiation with landowners.  


It is our practice and policy to submit our standard easement form to each landowner.  Each owner is free to accept or negotiate their own terms and conditions.  The inclusion or exclusion of certain terms and conditions, with all landowners, for this application, is ongoing.  


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  


Just to be clear, in effect you're not asking the Board to approve each and every clause in this agreement.  You are not asking the Board to tell you to use each and every clause that's in these agreements, in these documents.  These are, as you put it, a benchmark or a guideline?  


MR. TKACH:  Exactly.  


MR. BRETT:  I take it that you'd expect, then, that the -- or would you expect that as a condition of approval of the leave to construct, the Board would do, what, essentially?  Make this guideline or benchmark a condition, one of the conditions?  Is that what you normally seek?  


MR. TKACH:  It's my understanding –- sorry, go ahead. 


MR. STOLL:  I was just going to say, if I may, section 97 speaks to the Board not granting leave to construct until the applicant satisfies the Board that it has offered or will each to each owner of land affected by the approved route or location an agreement in a form approved by the Board.  Essentially the Board is approving the form.  So that's the question?  


MR. BRETT:  I appreciate your comment.  I am well aware of section 97.  I guess what I'm really trying to get at here is, what exactly is the Board approving.  


I take it what you're telling me is the Board is saying that what you offered each of the individual landlords can't be any less advantageous to them than the document that is stated here?  Is that what you're saying?  


MR. TKACH:  I can't agree with that comment.  Each landowner is free to negotiate their own terms and conditions.  It's up to myself, through consultations with the project team, our solicitors, to accept different terms and conditions which we are not accustomed to, or we consider to be onerous and may affect the company as a whole in maintaining the pipeline, affecting our customer and affecting our ratepayers.  


In my 25 years, if I were able to negotiate an easement 100 percent using our terms and conditions, my life would be very easy.  


In reality, each document that I've completed, there are some variations.  So it depends on the circumstances, the situations; do we have alternatives?  There are a lot of variables you have to take into account.  


MR. BRETT:  Can I ask you to look at the first document in this package, which is the agreement to grant easement?  If you would look and turn to section 7 of that.  That's on page 4.  In other words that is Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, the fourth page.  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  Where it starts "the transfer represents and warrants"?  


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  


MR. TKACH:  Okay.  


MR. BRETT:  Perhaps just before I ask you about that, if you go back one page to page 3 and you look at number 1, paragraph number 1, it starts off, "The location of the easement..."  Do you see that?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. BRETT:  And I'm going to just paraphrase that, but it basically says that the easement lands shall be selected by the transferee.  That's Enbridge; right?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. BRETT:  Then if you go back over to page 7, it basically says here that the transferor represents and warrants that the easement lands do not contain any hazardous substances, and if Enbridge encounters any hazardous substances in doing the work, the transferor,  in this case TEDCO, has to remove them at its cost.  


Do you see that?  


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. BRETT:  Does that not strike you as a bit odd, in the sense that you're selecting the lands?  You're coming to us, my client, for the right to use its land.  You get to select the lands, and presumably you get to determine -- and yet we have an obligation to effectively warrant that nowhere on any of these lands that you're taking there are hazardous products?  


MR. TKACH:  Each provision or clause in our document is subject to negotiations.  Each landowner can ask for changes to the document.  


I was not responsible for crafting this document.  Our solicitors crafted this document.  


MR. KAISER:  But are you asking this Board to approve that term as part of your standard form agreement?  


MR. TKACH:  The agreement to grant -– sorry, could you repeat the question?  


MR. KAISER:  Are you asking this Board to approve that term as part of your standard form agreement?  


MR. TKACH:  Actually, the location should be mutually acceptable.  The selection of the easement should be mutual to both parties.  


MR. KAISER:  I don't understand the answer.  What does that mean in response to my question?  


MR. TKACH:  What I'm saying is that the location of the easement should be agreed upon by both parties.  The wording of that paragraph seems to be a little awkward.  


MR. KAISER:  So the answer would be "no"?  


MR. TKACH:  I would prefer to discuss this matter with our solicitors, because it was drafted by them.  Perhaps I'm not understanding the intent behind that paragraph.  


MR. KAISER:  There was a reference to section 97 by one of you, maybe both of you, that the Board had a responsibility to approve the standard form of the agreement - I might not be using the term right - and this was a standard form agreement, I thought.


MR. TKACH:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I'm just asking you what we're supposed to do with it.  I mean, are we supposed to approve it, ignore it, turn our mind to ‑‑


MR. TKACH:  Well, it has been approved on previous applications.


MR. KAISER:  I know, but this is a new application.  I presume you put it in here and, for the purpose of this case, you're asking this Board to make a judgment whether, in this case, this is the appropriate standard form agreement.  Is that right, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct, and as ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So my question was:  The particular clause that Mr. Brett has referred to where there's a cost assignment for hazardous waste, are we being asked to turn our mind to that and approve that as part of a standard form agreement?


MR. STOLL:  As it is part of the agreement, yes, you're being asked to turn your mind to whether it is an appropriate starting point, and...


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.


MR. BRETT:  Can I ask you ‑‑ just going back, again, Mr. Tkach, for a moment to this agreement to grant easement.  And I ‑‑ maybe just to sort of cut this short a bit, I might get you to confirm that the same -- the same clause we've discussed does appear in the easement, as well; right?  That's over on page 9?


MR. TKACH:  Actually...


MR. BRETT:  Or something very close to the same clause.  I'm looking at clause 10 on page 9.  I'm not trying to make a big point of this.  I just really want you to, if you can, confirm to me it appears in both places.


MR. TKACH:  The environmental clause is in both the agreement to grant and in the easement.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then just going back, getting back to the agreement -- back to the agreement to grant easement that is found on page 3 and 4 of this package, could you confirm for me that there is not ‑‑ when you read this document, you don't find in it - and I will paraphrase here at a high level ‑ any indemnity from Enbridge to the landowner for any harm caused ‑‑ any costs, harm, damages, lawsuits against the owner as a result of Enbridge being on the land and doing the work on the land to build the pipeline?


Could you confirm that that kind of indemnity is one that flows from Enbridge to the landowner is not in here?


MR. TKACH:  No, it's not.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  And what I would like to do, I -- just one last area.  I did circulate...


I left with your counsel this morning and also with Ms. Campbell some material from a recent -- from the recent Hydro One application to the Board.  This is Hydro One's application to build the -- for a section 92 approval for the Bruce-to-Milton transmission line.


I don't know whether you need to ‑‑ I think you have it, do you?  Has your counsel given it to you?


MR. TKACH:  Mr. Stoll has a copy.


MR. STOLL:  I showed it to my client.  He does not have a copy right now.


MR. BRETT:  I think I can do this very simply.  This document, the section I included, is just the section of Hydro One's application which is entitled "Land Matters", so it has a little bit of ‑‑ this has already been filed with the Board.


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, it hasn't been filed, actually, Mr. Brett.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, the application by Hydro One has been filed with the Board.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, but the Panel does not have copies.  If you want them to have copies, I have to hand them up.


MR. BRETT:  Why don't you, please, if you wouldn't mind?  That would be helpful if they had it in front of them.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It will be J16.



EXHIBIT NO. J16:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "LAND MATTERS" 


(EXCERPT)

MR. BRETT:  And just to sort of summarize what this is, the first five pages is the written description of what sorts of land requirements Hydro One will have at a very high level, and then on page ‑‑ and that is -- that's schedule 9.  That is Exhibit B, this is of Hydro One's application.  Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 9, which is six pages long, is the -- as I just said, is a written description at a high level of what they're trying to do, what are the land requirements they need to build this new transmission line.


Then schedule 10, page 1 is just ‑‑ it's an outline of the legal agreements that they filed.  This is analogous to what I think we were talking about a moment ago.  This is the list of agreements that Hydro One are filing.


And the one I wanted you to look at, in particular, is appendix number 3, which is entitled "Offer to grant an easement to Hydro One Networks".  It's the second document in the pile.  The first one is appendix 1, which is the easement itself, and that's four pages.


Then I've left out the other ones.  I haven't put everything in for reasons of efficiency, but appendix 3 is the offer to grant an easement and it's a five‑page document.


Now, what I would ask you to do, Mr. Tkach, is just look at paragraph 15 of that document.  That's paragraph ‑‑ on page 4, paragraph 15 of the offer to grant an easement to Hydro One Networks.


MR. TKACH:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Have you got it?  Okay.  And I just want you to confirm at a high level that this ‑‑ what paragraph 15 says is the transferee in this case ‑‑ this is Hydro One, the transferee, taker of the easement:

"...will agree with the transferor to indemnify and save harmless the transferor, his tenants or other lawful occupiers of the strip..." - that's the easement - "...for any loss, damage and injury caused by the acceptance of the offer the granting and transfer of rights or anything done pursuant thereto or arising from any accident that would not have happened but for the presence of its line on the strip, provided however that the transferee shall not be liable to the extent that such loss, damage or injury is caused or contributed to by the neglect or default of the transferor."

that's the landowner; right?


So I just want you to acknowledge that, in this case, in the Hydro One example, there is an indemnity forthcoming from Hydro One to each of the landowners; is that fair?


MR. TKACH:  There is -- it appears to be a standard, a standard indemnity provision indoctrinated in Hydro's standard agreement.


MR. BRETT:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  I just wanted to, if I could, Mr. McDermott was responding to the question -- clarifications under the undertaking on laying out the costs of providing the drawings that would be certified by an Ontario land surveyor.


The request from the city of Toronto was a ‑‑ there was an alternate style of drawings, I suppose, is the best way to put it.


And I just wonder if you could comment on what the costs would be to supply drawings that were referred to as a record drawing, as defined by the Association of Professional Engineers.


How does that differ and what are your -- you know, how would that satisfy the city of Toronto?  Is it a higher cost or not?


MR. McDERMOTT:  It is my understanding that ‑‑ let me clarify.  Let me back up my statement.


It is my understanding that we've not used a professional engineer to do this work in the past.  We have a registered Ontario land surveyor, and in the letter from the city, in the request, it was a request for either/or.


We chose to use an Ontario land surveyor because we have one on board with over 40 years' experience in the pipeline industry.


I cannot comment on the costs for a professional engineer, because I never saw the cost from professional engineer to do the work.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  In your comments earlier as to how you arrived at this, your costing for the Ontario land surveyor, I understood you went to a third party to get the estimate.  


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is correct.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Am I to understand, then, that strictly because you have a comfort level as to how that work would be done, and the comfort you arrive at by having an Ontario land surveyor on staff gives you that -- I'm missing the connection as to why you would choose one and not the other.  


MR. McDERMOTT:  Give me a moment to...


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. McDERMOTT:  It is my understanding that the Ontario land surveyors, it is their area of expertise and, with the professional engineers, it is usually not their areas of expertise.  Also, the Ontario land surveyor that we have on board, they already have an agreement with Enbridge, so it was more in favour for us to go directly to them.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry, I misunderstood.  When you said "on board," I took that to be a staff member.  You're saying this is a retained relationship you have?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  They have an ongoing relationship with Enbridge. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  You didn't investigate what a record drawing may be or what the costs of that may be to put that together to satisfy the city of Toronto?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  We did so, but we did that through the first option that was indicated in their letter, and that is true in Ontario, a registered OLS. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe we are at cross-purposes here, but I'm reading this as two separate options.  There is an option to have drawings certified by a surveyor, or a record drawing.  And a record drawing has a meaning, and that meaning is by definition of the Association of Professional Engineers.  


What I am asking is if that is a separate distinct option to provide a record drawing, was that looked at as a viable alternative to having an Ontario land surveyor certify the drawings?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  No, that was not looked at. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Tkach, a bit of a primer on the easement agreements.  Am I right that there are temporary and there are permanent?  Can you hear me okay?  


MR. TKACH:  If you could speak up just a little bit, I would appreciate it.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So an easement agreement may be temporary for temporary purposes, or it may be permanent?  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct. 


MR. VLAHOS:  In this case, we have both situations?  


MR. TKACH:  We could have one, both -- either one or both.  


MR. VLAHOS:  What do we have in this application?  


MR. TKACH:  You have both.  


MR. VLAHOS:  We have both?  Okay.  


Once you get approval, as you've done in the past, about the form of the agreement, of the easement agreement, and you go out and present that to an affected landowner, does that landowner understand that this is just a beginning?  How does he or she understand that?  


MR. TKACH:  If it's a private landowner, I meet with them and discuss the document from front to back.  I tell them that it is at their option to have the document looked over by a lawyer.  I they want to forego that, they can negotiate on their own or some other third party.  


I try to answer all of the questions that they have.  I let them know that that document is not etched in stone, that it is subject to negotiations.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it is not presented as – well, here's a document approved by the Board and therefore it is golden?  


MR. TKACH:  I wish it was the case.  It would make my life a lot easier.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You are obligated by what, by professional integrity, I guess, to advise them?


MR. TKACH:  No.  As I said our document is a benchmark that I start with, and that the landowners, the company recognizes landowners have the freedom of choice whether to accept that document, negotiate another one, tell me, we don't want to grant an easement to you, we would have to look for alternatives.  It is their option whether they want to accept the document word for word, line for line, clause per clause, or they start negotiating and question me on concerns they may have with the wording in the document, which I am prepared to negotiate.  


If they have valid concerns and under the circumstances, I will definitely consider amendments that would be acceptable to both parties.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So at some point the landowner may not be satisfied with the best deal that you could offer, after all of those negotiations.  What are his options now?  


MR. TKACH:  Sorry, I didn't catch the last -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  What are his options if at the end of the negotiation he is still not satisfied with the deal that he can get from you?  


MR. TKACH:  We're speaking on a purely hypothetical situation?  Are we talking about any transaction that the company required?  Are we talking about a project such as this?  


MR. VLAHOS:  No, no, no.  I'm talking about I'm a landowner and you come to me. 


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You want to negotiate with me for an easement on my land. 


MR. TKACH:  Yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  And you make me an offer and I make you at the counteroffer.  At the end of ten offers, we're not together.  What are my options now?  


MR. TKACH:  Your options are to not sign a document. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  What does that mean?  


MR. TKACH:  It means that we would look for alternatives.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So the alternatives would be what?  


MR. TKACH:  Sorry, I didn't catch the last -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  What would be the alternatives, then?  


MR. TKACH:  Well, again, the question you pose is very hypothetical.  It depends on the circumstances in this situation of the project.  It could be a small service line.  It could be a header service.  It could be, in this case a large-diameter pipeline is subject to the Board approval.  


It's difficult for me to answer that question because it's a fairly generic one and there are many answers.  


MR. VLAHOS:  What I'm trying to get to is, is the next step which may be expropriation -– okay?  Can you help me understand how that would work?  


MR. TKACH:  I'm not an expert on expropriation.  I have never been involved in expropriation in my 25 years.  I take great pleasure in telling everyone that I have negotiated with every landowner as best I could, offering fair deals, which also protect the company, the ratepayers. To answer your question, I think I would have to defer to our solicitors --  


MR. VLAHOS:  No.  But you have been -- 


MR. TKACH:  -- regarding expropriation. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, you have been in business for 25 years.  Obviously you know what the options are for the landowner or for yourself.  


MR. TKACH:  But we cannot expropriate a landowner.  That is not subject to an OEB application. 


MR. VLAHOS:  You need the approval of this Board in order to go to the Ontario Municipal Board, isn't it?  


MR. STOLL:  The statute provides for a couple of steps through expropriation.  First, to apply for expropriation you must have been granted leave to construct or be exempt from the leave to construct process.  


At that point, if negotiations were unsuccessful and the proponent - in this case we'll say Enbridge - needed access and rights to the land, they would come back to the Board with a filing for expropriation.  


If they were successful in receiving the right to expropriate, they would then fall under the Expropriation Act, which talks about registration of the documents, filing the documents for entry upon the land with the landowner, and also time frames for when you may or may not enter the land.  There is a 90-day window unless you go to court.  And that bridges the time frame from the filing of the approval granted by, in this case, the OEB, to when the person can enter upon the lands for construction purposes.  


The compensation aspect ultimately may end up in front of, I think it is the OMB or a panel related to the OMB, but the Expropriations Act provides for that, and those mechanisms are stated in the OEB Act and carried over into the Expropriations Act.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.


Mr. Tkach, we have -- as we received this exhibit just filed about the easement agreements and related documents by Hydro One, one could not help but notice there are differences in form.  I'm not sure about the substance.  It may be a difference in substance, as well.  At least in one case it is.


I guess my question is to what extent that form of agreement that has been adopted by Enbridge and approved by the Board from time to time in the various leave-to-construct applications by Enbridge -- to what extent did they differ from Union's or from, say, transmission companies, that they also are before this Board quite frequently, transmission companies meaning power transmission companies?


MR. TKACH:  Yes.  Each utility has their own standard forms.  I've seen many forms over the years.  They're not identical.  Some include indemnification; some don't.  


It is not to say that I wouldn't consider indemnification, if that's the issue today.  If the indemnity is reasonable and does not affect -- affect the company and the ratepayer, I would certainly consider an indemnity provision.  We do not include indemnity in our standard document, but, as I said, the document is subject to negotiations.  I can include or omit, depending on the situation and circumstances -- again, in consultation with the department or group that I provide service to within the company.


I also consult our solicitors to make sure of the impacts that it may or may not have on the rights that we're trying to acquire and the easement we're trying to acquire -- or the pipeline, I should say, that we're trying to protect and maintain.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, do you think there is any value of having a form approved by this Board that would be common among the gas companies as well as the power companies?


MR. TKACH:  Our document ‑‑ I will get to your question, if I may.


Our document was drafted by our solicitors knowing full well what our requirements are.  I can't speak on behalf of Union Gas.  I can't speak on behalf of the other utilities.  I can only speak on behalf of Enbridge.  


Any changes that have occurred in this document have occurred over the years, but, for the most part, has remained the same.


And having a standard form for all, could you have one for Ontario Realty Corporation?  I would appreciate that, because when we negotiate with Ontario Realty Corporation we have to deal with their document, not our document.


They have a standard document which we have to negotiate with.  They don't even consider our document.


MR. VLAHOS:  So to the extent ‑‑


MR. TKACH:  So to have an equal playing field ‑‑ and, again, that is a very hypothetical question -- every agency in this province should have a common document.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So if there was such an intent -- what I hear you say of the possible outcome is a pretty watered-down version that would have the absolute minimum, which would be less than what you have now here part of your proposal?  You can't hear me?


MR. TKACH:  I'm having difficulty, I'm sorry.


MR. VLAHOS:  Based on that answer, then, it is likely that ‑‑ to the extent that there will be a generic approach to those things, that one may end up with a document that is pretty much watered down from what you have here, that would have very few areas where they may be common?


MR. TKACH:  Put it this way:  If I were to coordinate to get a common document with all agencies, it would take me ‑‑ it would be an impossibility, because no one would agree.  No one could agree.


As I said, the company allows the owner the option to negotiate his or her own terms and conditions.  So I don't think there is a need for having a common utility easement agreement, at least from ‑‑ not from our perspective.  At least from our perspective.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Tkach, I asked -- just moving on to my last area of questions, I asked some questions about the potential impact on ratepayers, to the extent that costs that will come in that are different from their estimates.  


I don't want to touch the same area, but from the following perspective, do we need to worry as a Board here, the Panel, that at some point there may be a risk that the costs will be coming in so high that it would be assessed against Portlands by way of contribution of construction, that they may make the project uneconomic?


MR. TKACH:  I don't think I'm the right person to answer that question.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Anybody on the panel?


MR. McDERMOTT:  I think the question would best be answered by the previous panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  To the extent that Portlands has a cap or a threshold, they were free to try and include that in negotiations, I am not aware of that.  I wasn't involved in the negotiations, but if there was a cap over which the costs would become prohibitive, that could have been included as part of the agreement.  That isn't in the agreement.  Portlands has been kept aware of the costs, so...


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I'm not sure what you're telling me, Mr. Stoll.  It can be a billion dollars, and then the project is still ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  No.  I mean, if the customer is fully informed all the way along, they can analyze the impact on the business for themselves.  Portlands is a sophisticated company.


If they had a point over which the costs would become prohibitive to the project, they could have identified that with Enbridge and said ‑‑ and sought protection or a potential for a cancellation fee or some other sort of contractual remedy.


So there are options available to deal with that concern through the contract.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So you're saying that the comfort that this Board should take is that Portlands is a sophisticated entity, and all of those things are sort of contemplated and measured and accepted?


MR. STOLL:  I can't speak for what is in Portlands' mind, but in any large commercial transaction there are a number of issues that are subject to negotiation in the final end point.  If it was an absolute concern or a deal breaker for Portlands to end up somewhere other than where they did, then they wouldn't have signed the agreement.


So I think the Board should take comfort.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So that, plus the fact you're saying they're not here today and have not participated, that should give the Board some comfort that whatever numbers or parameters we're talking about is not going to kill the Portlands Energy Centre?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tkach, you've asked in your application for an order by June 1st for a July construction date.  And you referred to this construction date earlier today.


Am I getting the right impression that with respect to the southern project, you haven't been able to negotiate any of these easements yet?


MR. TKACH:  We have not been able to complete any easements on the north or the south section.  We are in different levels of negotiations.  We have made some strides with one agency.


We would like to complete an easement with Ontario Power Generation.  Unfortunately, we have a tenant to deal with.  That's holding us up to complete that document.


We are in a comfortable position, I think, with the rest of the agencies.  We made a lot of strides with, for example, Hydro One and ORC with regards to their non‑monetary provisions and clauses.


There's still some to be worked out.  I am hopeful that we can complete all documents well before the construction start of July 1st.  I am always hopeful.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I realize you are hopeful, but it's now the middle of April.  Are you getting a bit worried?  


MR. TKACH:  No. 


MR. KAISER:  You're not?  


MR. TKACH:  No. 


MR. KAISER:  What if with Studios of America you can't come to terms and you have to go to expropriation?  How long is that going to take?  


MR. TKACH:  I would have to defer that question to our solicitor. 


MR. KAISER:  Anyway, do you think you can go through all of that and be ready for -- do you need that deal in place in order to start construction on July 1st?  


MR. TKACH:  We need all of the deals in place for the south section.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Yes, Mr. Stoll.  


MR. STOLL:  I have a couple of questions on redirect.  


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  Mr. McDermott, the city's concerns were mainly related to the physical location of the pipeline, correct?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is correct.  


MR. STOLL:  To the extent that an engineer would produce a record drawing, the level of information - and I think this is where you used the word the expertise - the references that would be incorporated into a record drawing wouldn't be the same as provided by Ontario land surveyor.  I will go back. 


The land surveyor document would provide physical location and tie them back to property bars; correct? 


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is correct. 


MR. STOLL:  There is no requirement on the engineer's record drawing they would tie them back to all of the property bars; correct?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is correct.  


MR. STOLL:  In summary, the city wouldn't get exactly the locational information that they maybe would get under the engineering option that they seem to seek under the survey option?  


MR. McDERMOTT:  That is correct.  


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Tkach, if I could get you to turn up Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 3 of 13.  


MR. TKACH:  Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 3 of 13?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. TKACH:  Okay. 


MR. STOLL:  Could I get you to read paragraph number 5, please.  


MR. TKACH:  

"As soon as reasonably possible after the construction of the works, the transferor shall:  Remove all surplus soil and debris from the transferred lands and restore them to the former state so far as is reasonably practicable."  


MR. STOLL:  Now, what is the intent of that clause?


MR. TKACH:  The intent of that clause is to restore the lands to their prior state, prior to construction.  The state prior to construction.  


MR. STOLL:  So it does provide some indemnity?  It's not an indemnification, maybe, in the words that Mr. Brett read to you, but effectively the landowner is not harmed because the land is restored?  


MR. TKACH:  That would be a correct statement to make.  


MR. STOLL:  Just to be clear, the form of agreement is the starting point.  


MR. TKACH:  That's correct.  


MR. STOLL:  Are there any individual landowners?  These are all corporations or government -- 


MR. TKACH:  These are all agencies and corporations. 


MR. STOLL:  Has any other corporation or agency raised a concern with the form of easement, or have they just proceeded to negotiations?  


MR. TKACH:  We proceeded with negotiations.  Changes were made at the request, or we looked at making changes at the request.  As I said before, sometimes we don't have the option of using our easement as a benchmark.  We'll have to use, for example, ORC's standard form.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Tkach, those are my questions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  


[Witness panel withdrew]


MR. KAISER:  What's next, Mr. Stoll?  


MR. STOLL:  Those are my panels for the evidence-in-chief.  I am not aware of anybody providing -- 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Brett, do you have any evidence?  


MR. BRETT:  No, sir, we do not.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  One matter that needs to be taken care of.  There were draft conditions of approval circulated.  They were not circulated.  


MR. KAISER:  These are prepared by Staff; is that right?  This is a Staff position, is it?  


MR. STOLL:  I don't recall having seen any draft conditions. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  Apparently we haven't circulated it.  What I propose to do -- the draft conditions of approval for leave to construct, and I will provide them to the parties that are here, we have added, at the end - obviously this is draft and subject to the Panel's approvals - we have added at the end the paragraph that reflects the request for any imposition of a condition by the city of Toronto.  


MR. KAISER:  Is this really your argument?  Are you telling us that Staff's position is that the leave be granted subject to these conditions?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, what I was about to do - I thought it had been circulated - I would simply review with you the legal issues that have to be satisfied in order for you to grant the leave to construct.  But perhaps before I do that, there is an issue that was raised by Mr. Brett dealing with the resolution.  Mr. Brett had spoken to me  before the hearing started of making an argument concerning what would be contained in the form of an agreement under section 97.  


There had been a previous discussion about taking care of that in writing, and I think we suggested towards the end of the hearing, Mr. Brett, that you would discuss with the Panel the possible ways of dealing with the issues that you want this Panel to deal with when they consider the granting the application.  


MR. KAISER:  What is the issue, Mr. Brett?  


MR. BRETT:  I guess the more general issue is how we deal with argument in the case.  


I came, really, under the understanding that we would have, as I am familiar with in rate cases and other types of policy cases, that we would have written argument.  I was going to propose that we file written argument by, say, a week tomorrow.  


I believe we need some time to talk about what happened today with the other principals in our company.  So I didn't come here prepared to make submissions this afternoon.


MR. KAISER:  Let's talk about argument.  I think the applicant is interested in getting a decision by June 1st, they've said. 


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. KAISER:  I think we would like to move this argument along.  When can you get your argument in, Mr. Stoll?  


MR. STOLL:  Until Friday we weren't aware there were any significant issues.  We were hoping for oral argument tomorrow morning.  


MR. KAISER:  We can do that.  I think Mr. Brett wants to do written argument.  Can we get it all done in a week?  


MR. BRETT:  Sure.  A week today would be fine.  


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose we go by way of written argument, for the sake of discussion at the moment.  Could you get something in the next day or so? 


MR. STOLL:  I could get something in by Wednesday. 


MR. KAISER:  And Mr. Brett perhaps could file by Friday?  


MR. BRETT:  I would much rather have Monday, if I could.  I have some commitments out of town Thursday and Friday that have been longstanding which I should attend. 


MR. KAISER:  I guess you will want to reply?  


MR. STOLL:  I want to have at least the option of replying. 


MR. BRETT:  My argument will be reasonably brief and it will deal only with the panel 3 issues.  


MR. STOLL:  If Mr. Brett could provide those comments by first thing Monday, and then we will respond on Tuesday. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  If we can get it all done by Tuesday, that's acceptable.  I don't want it to go any more than a week from today.  If you could accommodate Mr. Brett in that regard, we would appreciate it.  


MR. STOLL:  Just to be clear.  It's 4:45 on Wednesday for the filing of our argument-in-chief?  


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, sir.  


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell, is that all right with you?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's fine. 


MR. KAISER:  Will you be filing argument?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I wouldn't be filing argument.  I would simply be providing an outline of what the legal requirements are for the granting of leave to construct application, and specifically commenting upon section 97, what the advice would be.  What I think would probably be appropriate so that my friends can comment upon that legal advice when they make their written reply would be that I provide a brief letter or memo concerning our position on the legal construction of section 97.  


It would be very, very short, and we will not be taking a position at all on what the form of the agreement should look like.  We will simply be putting on the record what we believe section ‑‑ how 97 should be interpreted or has been interpreted.


MR. KAISER:  Where did we leave these draft conditions?  Are we circulating them or are we giving them an exhibit number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  What I propose we should do is simply provide them to my friends, and, as I indicated, they have attached to them the condition that was requested by the city of Toronto.  It's obviously up to this Panel to decide whether or not that is a condition that should be ‑‑ should form part of it.


And we should, to keep the record clear, obviously give them an exhibit number, which would be J17.


EXHIBIT NO. J17:  DRAFT CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL  

MS. CAMPBELL:  I will give that ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Campbell, while you are doing that ‑‑ sorry, go ahead.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  You can hand them out.  Before we give it an exhibit number, I just want to speak to this matter for a second.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.  Obviously they are in draft.


MR. VLAHOS:  My understanding I guess of the practice of this Board is that these are without prejudice.  Those are provided to the applicant --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  ‑‑ and perhaps other parties in the event that the Panel was inclined to approve -- okay, those are the standard conditions that would accompany the order or the decision, and that's the extent of it, nothing more than that.  That is the purpose.


They're pretty standard.  They can be read years ago, exactly the same language.  So that's the intent.  I'm not sure whether we need an exhibit number for those.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm simply thinking of keeping the record fairly clean on that, and just so that if 

somebody ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  I don't think there is any harm in giving it an exhibit number.  We have newspapers and God knows what in this record, but what is the city of Toronto ‑‑


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's at the very end.  It's the very last page.


MR. KAISER:  That, I take it, is not part of some standard agreement?


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, it's not.  And, yes, the conditions are very frequently very similar.  They are looked at and considered for each application.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So just to recap, Mr. Stoll, you're filing your written argument by the close of business on Wednesday?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Brett by first thing Monday?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And you will reply on Tuesday?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct, close of business.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell will fit herself in somewhere.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, I will.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:01 p.m.
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